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Thursday, December 17, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:12 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today is the seventh day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application EB-2009-0096.

Today we will continue the examination of witness panel 4 dealing with O&M and capital issues.

Before we begin, there are a couple of matters that I would like to deal with regarding scheduling and next steps.

First, as you are all aware, we have set hearing dates in January specifically to deal with the Board's policy.  That policy paper has been issued, and it's EB-2009-0349, rate protection and the determination of direct benefits under Ontario Regulation 330/09.

That policy paper is due for -- we're due for comments on that paper on January 11th.  Our schedule, to date, was planning to sit somewhere around that time to hear that issue, but obviously that's not going to work.  We will have to -- we don't yet know what the comments will be on that policy paper, or how long it will take the Board to issue a final paper.  

We certainly hope that it won't be long, and we are aiming for as soon as possible in the new year, maybe just a week or two after that, after we receive comments, but it is totally dependent on the nature and the volume of comments we receive.

So that part of the hearing we really can't deal with until we know more in January.  We may be able to treat it in a different manner.  We may not need an oral proceeding to deal with it.  We will make some suggestions about that at the time.

I just wanted to alert you to that and not have an expectation that we will be having an oral hearing on that on January 11th.

Now, the other issue, of course, that has arisen is the cost of capital issue.  And before we finish sitting this week, I would like to determine a schedule for the next steps regarding that issue.

So I would request -- and I did allude to this on Tuesday.  I would request that the intervenors who are interested in pursuing this issue, that tomorrow morning you give me more specific information regarding the type of evidence that you wish to file, the schedule associated with that evidence, your ability to get experts and timing around that.

If you are still -- I believe it was Mr. Shepherd of Schools that requested interrogatories of Hydro One.  If there is a request for interrogatories, I would like some very specific information on the nature of that request and what types of interrogatories you believe you need to discuss the cost of capital issues, and a proposed schedule from the intervenors, and then of course Hydro One's response to that schedule.

Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  I can say, Madam Chair, I will be able to speak to those matters at 9 o'clock tomorrow morning, if you wish.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, thank you very much.  Any other comments on that?

All right.  With that, a new appearance?

MS. NOWINA:  Your microphone isn't on, sir.

MR. HAYES:  My name is James Hayes of the Cavalluzzo Hayes law firm, representing the Society of Energy Professionals.  I am sorry, I have been doing other matters for the last week or so.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hayes.  Are there any other -- Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  One other question, Madam Chair, since you are discussing scheduling.  Will the Panel be providing direction today or tomorrow with respect to final argument in this first phase, in terms of the timing for Hydro One, and then the responding, et cetera?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  As a matter of fact, maybe you can give me submissions on the idea that we could deal with final argument without having heard the cost of capital issues.


Certainly we thought we could deal with argument regarding all, other issues other than the policy paper that was outstanding, and continue to move on argument.  

I am not so certain that we could do that, that we could separate cost of capital from those submissions, but I would be happy to hear your submissions on that tomorrow morning, as well, and Mr. Rogers'.

MR. ROGERS:  Very good.

MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other preliminary matters?

MR. ROGERS:  Just one very minor matter, Madam Chair.  I told the Board the other day there are a couple of transcript corrections that I think should be made, and I have given a copy to the court reporter and asked her to put it into the transcript tomorrow at the beginning.  

I have given that.  There are copies I placed on Board counsel's table for the intervenors, if they want to see them.  I don't think they're of consequence, but the word "not" was left out, and it just changed the meaning of the sentence.  But I don't believe it is of any consequence, other than it is wrong on the transcript. 

And I don't blame the reporter.  I think maybe the witness in one case misspoke.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Any other preliminary matters?  All right, let me recall where we were.  Mr. Faye, you were still in the midst of your cross-examination; is that right?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  Madam Chair, I have a pretty serious cold and am probably contagious, so with your permission I will excuse myself after the cross-examination for the balance of the day.

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Faye.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4 OM&A AND CAPITAL, RESUMED
^
Paul Malozewski, Previously Sworn


Keith McDonell, Previously Sworn


Marc Villett, Previously Sworn


Michael Winters, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye (continued):


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Panel, I would like to take you to a newer area than we were discussing last day, and this concerns working capital.

We provided an interrogatory.  It would be Energy Probe 23, H-3-23.  In there, we asked you to basically update some of the numbers in the plan to reflect a later regulated price plan that had been issued October 15th by the Board.

Your response was, well, you didn't have an updated plan at that time, and so your numbers in the application were based on the April 2009 regulated price plan report.

I wonder if we could ask you to update the response to part (d) of our Energy Probe 23 with the information that is in the October 15th report from the Board.  Would that be possible with an undertaking?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

MR. MILLAR:  J7.1.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  TO PROVIDE UPDATE TO (D) OF ENERGY PROBE IR 23.

MR. FAYE:  You provide the calculations, as well, to show the change in rate base associated with the change in the weighted average commodity cost.  The weighting factors used in your calculation response to Energy Probe 23, part (d), was 31 percent non-RPP and 69 percent RPP.

I wonder if you could just clarify, is this breakdown based on historical data, or is it based on forecasts for 2010, 2011?

MR. VILLETT:  It's based on historical data over several years.

MR. FAYE:  There's some suggestion that there will be movement of customers from RPP to non-RPP status starting probably in November of 2009.

Did you consider that in your 31/69 split?

MR. VILLETT:  As far as I know, we used the historical information from the past several years.

MR. FAYE:  So would I be correct in saying you don't have an estimate of how that split might vary?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. FAYE:  Is it possible to provide?

MR. VILLETT:  We could look into it, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Can we have an undertaking on that, as well?

MR. MILLAR:  J7.2, and could you repeat the undertaking, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  That would be to recalculate the response to Energy Probe 23, part (d), considering that the split of non-RPP to RPP customers could change effective November of 2009.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  TO RECALCULATE THE RESPONSE TO ENERGY PROBE 23, PART (D) considering that the split of non-RPP to RPP customers could change effective November of 2009

MR. FAYE:  Panel, going back to some of the stuff we were talking about the other day, I asked you a question -- I wasn't precise enough.  In reviewing the transcript, I realized that I may have not been precise enough to get a definitive answer.

The question concerned attrition, and we were talking, I believe, about particularly the MCP group of employees, but you also volunteered some attrition data on Society and other employees.

The numbers aren't particularly important.  What I neglected to ask you was, when I said the word "voluntary" attrition," I didn't ask you whether that included retirements.  So the numbers you gave, did they include retirements?

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe I gave you an attrition rate of 3.5 percent, I believe, and that would be inclusive of both retirements and non-retirement terminations.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you for that.

Could I turn you up to, this is likely to happen, Madam Chair, my voice is sort of all over the map.

MS. NOWINA:  We will try to be restrained in how we react to it, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Could I ask you --

MR. WARREN:  A teenager.

MS. NOWINA:  That wasn't restrained, Mr. Warren.

MR. FAYE:  Moving on.

Could I ask you to turn up Energy Probe 71, that would be Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 71.

What I would like to do is compare some of the numbers in this interrogatory response with some numbers that were included in a previous application decision by the Board, and that would be the transmission decision.  I have given copies of the page I would like to refer to to Mr. Millar and I wonder if he would make those available to the panel and to the Board.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That will be Exhibit K7.1.  Exhibit K7.1 and it is an excerpt from EB-2008-0272.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  EXCERPT FROM EB-2008-0272

MR. FAYE:  If we can just put those two exhibits side by side so they're easy to read.

Looking first at the EB-2008-0272 page 25, in the chart in the middle of the page, there are historical and forecasted figures for regular, non-regular and total staff employee head count, it is called.

And when I look at those and compare them to the forecasted staff in our Exhibit H1, 71, the numbers don't match very well.  I wonder if you could just take us through and explain why the numbers have changed so radically from the transmission rate case to the distribution case.

MR. MCDONELL:  So if I understand your question correctly, you are asking me to compare the numbers both head count and total compensation between the transmission case and the current distribution case?

MR. FAYE:  Well, first just the head count.  If we look, for instance at 2009 forecast in the transmission case, the total staff forecast was 6,920.  Have I read that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  And now if I go over to the interrogatory response in this application, the total in 2009 is 7,456.  That's a difference of about 500 people.

Similarly, in 2010, your forecast at the time the transmission case was filed was 7,072, and the forecast in this application is 9,552.

That's almost 2,500 difference.  These are significant numbers.  And I wonder what would account for them.

MR. MCDONELL:  I can help you out with that.  Since the transmission case was filed, I believe it was prefiled in September of 2008, the business plan has evolved to include a number of new work programs that weren't part of the transmission case; both on the distribution side and the transmission side.

MR. FAYE:  Could you elaborate on what those new work programs are?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  I think you heard a little bit of this from panel 3, I believe, but maybe I will just talk to the distribution side, that due to the aging assets that we have, there's been an increase work in the wood pole replacement program.  There's been work added for PCB, as well as vegetation management and green energy work and distributed generation, plus there is also hiring required to support the overall infrastructure to support all of those programs.

MR. FAYE:  Well, if we could just take those one at a time and I will move quickly through it.

The PCB requirements, you have known about for quite some time.  Would I be correct in assuming that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think we're going to get outside my area of evidence fast on this.  I would not have specific information on PCB.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  We will address that in argument.

The green energy requirements, I think what I am hearing you say is that the -- that either the impact or the actual legislation wasn't before you at the time of the transmission case so you had no way of evaluating that component of the work program.  Is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's basically true.

MR. FAYE:  All right.

The other one that you mentioned that has some significance was the wood pole replacement program.  And if I remember right, you pointed to an exhibit that showed the distribution of wood pole ages in another cross-examination.  Do you recall that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe the subject was brought up, but I don't recall the testimony, no.

MR. FAYE:  It probably was not this panel.  And it's possible this panel can't answer this question either but I was going to ask, given the fact that you knew the distribution age of all of your wood poles, that it would surprise me to learn that this was a program that came out of the blue at you.

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe Mr. Gee spoke to this at length.  I really don't have anything further to add.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

One element that I didn't hear you mention that I would have thought I would have heard you mention was the impact of retirements and the fact that a large portion of your work force is approaching retirement age.

Did you mean to ignore that one?  Or...

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I didn't mean to ignore it.  That would be part of the reason for the increase in head count.  I thought the question that you were asking me related more to the work programs that was driving the head count increase, but certainly hiring for retirement is part of it, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  On that subject, could I ask you to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1.  This is the corporate staffing schedule. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  Line 19 starts with a statement that: 
"By December approximately 1,000 Networks staff (transmission and distribution) are eligible for an undiscounted retirement."

Of that 1,000, this being near the end of the year, how many have elected to actually retire?

MR. MCDONELL:  In 2009, 106 have opted to retire.  Approximately 10 percent.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  The next line refers to 1,400 Networks staff will be eligible by 2011 for an undiscounted retirement.

First, does that 1,400 include the 1,000 that were eligible at the end of 2009?  Or is this an additional 1400?

MR. MCDONELL:  It would include the 1,000, so it would be by December 31st, 2011 we will now have 1,400 employees eligible to retire.

MR. FAYE:  So between the end of 2009 and the end of 2011, an additional 400 people will qualify?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And the 10 percent rate of retirement that you've experienced in 2009, is that a reasonable estimate of what you have experienced in the past?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think it is certainly in the ballpark.  I mean between 2004 and 2009, we have seen retirement rates as high as 14 percent, 10 percent, 11 percent.

So 10 percent is a rough approximation.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.

Could I turn you to another Energy Probe interrogatory, and this would be EP-11.  That is Exhibit H-3-11.

Do you have that up?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  In this IR, we asked you about miscellaneous revenue and there was about $1.7 million listed in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 11.

And your response -- that schedule referred to 200,000 of that 1.7 million was in revenue for other third party work, and we asked you about that.

Your response was that the 200,000 is for the recovery of administrative-related costs from other Hydro One entities, and that confused us a little bit.  Did you mean to say that other Hydro One-related entities are third parties, or was the evidence in error to begin with and it really was an internal thing and not external third parties, at all?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  The response indicated that 1.7 million was to be -- was to be recovered through these various bullets that are identified in the response.

MR. FAYE:  Could we, then, just quickly turn up Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 13?

Do you have that?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  Right at the -- there is only a few sentences on page 13, and you will note in the second line it says, "and, $0.2 million for other third party work."

Is that $0.2 million, the same $0.2 million in the last line of the IR response, estimate for recovery of admin-related costs from other Hydro One entities?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes, it is.

MR. FAYE:  It is?  Okay.

So then in the evidence, it says that these are third parties, and in the interrogatory response it says it is from other Hydro One entities.

And my question is:  Which one is correct?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  They are all from Hydro One entities.

MR. FAYE:  So you wouldn't have any miscellaneous revenue from any third parties?  There's none of that in this application; is that right?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  This area specifically deals with revenue from other Hydro entities.  There is external revenue from other parties outside of Hydro.

MR. FAYE:  Could you refer me in the evidence to where I could find that so that I could look at it later?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  If I can direct your attention to the balance of Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, it deals with external revenue in some detail.  Schedule 2, sorry.

MR. FAYE:  So somewhere in there I am going to find what I want, and that's external third party revenue?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And so then the page 13 quote that we just went through, where it says "and, $0.2 million for other third party work", should I substitute the words "$0.2 million" for recovery from other Hydro One entities?  Would that be right?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  The wording would be consistent with what we responded to in the interrogatory response.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Can I take you to the subject of harmonization of taxes?  We gave you three interrogatories that reference this subject, and they all came back with more or less the same answer.

If you want to turn up Energy Probe 12, that would be H-3-12, it is a good sample.

Do you have that up?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Here, the response to our questions, which were basically aimed at quantifying the HST impact, your response has generally been you don't track your PST expenditures, and, therefore, you can't comment.

But you do mention in the answer to part (b) of our IR that you are going to be developing some way of forecasting the HST impact, and I wonder if you could just give the Board some insight into how you will go about doing that?

MR. VILLETT:  Once the legislation surrounding HST is finalized and the administrative rules are finalized, we will develop a methodology in order to try and track the PST.  And we'll be investigating a system looking at whether it will be possible to code the invoice payments to identify payments made after July 1st, 2010 that are subject to HST, but that would have been subject to the PST previously.

So that methodology is obviously subject to change, depending on what the final rules surrounding this legislation are.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, but it generally involves tracking your actual HST expenditures; is that right?

MR. VILLETT:  We will try to develop a methodology.  As we said, we don't currently track that, but we will attempt a methodology to track it.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you.

The last area that I would like to ask you about, it concerns working capital.

Now, it's my understanding that the Board -- I'm sorry, did I start with this one?  I wanted to get this one done and I think I gave this to you first.

Let me just review this quickly.  The cold must have affected my brain.  Did I start asking you with -- to update your working capital requirements based on the October 15th Board report?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  That's already done with.  Thank you.  I apologize for that, Madam Chair.  I believe I am done.

Thank you, panel.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  Who would like to be next on cross-examining this panel?

MR. WARREN:  I am happy to go, Madam Chair, if no one else wants to.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have just a few questions in five areas.  I wonder if we could begin -- if I could begin by asking you to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7.

And if you could turn up page 4 of 25 of that, in about two-thirds of the way down the page, it says:  
"2008 to 2011 includes a lower level of executive compensation, consistent with the Agency Review Panel (the 'Arnett Panel') report." 

Can you tell me the extent of the reductions that are due; just a global number, the extent of the reductions due to the Arnett report?

MR. MCDONELL:  To date, there's been three reductions in senior executive compensation in response to the Arnett panel recommendations, and two of them were made in 2007.  They affected the compensation for our CEO and our general counsel, and in 2009 -- which was, sorry, I think the answer to your question was 40 percent for the CEO and 25 percent reduction for the general counsel.  

MR. WARREN:  And the amount, sir, I am looking for an amount?  

MR. MCDONELL:  A dollar amount?  I don't have the dollar amount.  

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to give me that amount?  I want to know the amount, the effect of the Arnett reduction in terms of reduction in compensation.  

MR. ROGERS:  It may be in the evidence, but it will be provided.  

MR. WARREN:  Thank you. 

MS. NOWINA:  We will take an undertaking number. 

MR. MILLAR:  J7.3. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT, THE EFFECT OF THE ARNETT REDUCTION IN TERMS OF REDUCTION IN COMPENSATION INCLUDING THE CFO

MR. WARREN:  The second panel -- sorry, panel, the second question in connection with that, the second sentence in the paragraph I have just referred you to indicate that increases in 2010 and 2011 are mainly due to additional work requirements driven by the - I am going to shorten it - to Green Energy Act.  

Can you tell me the -- can you quantify for me the increases in 2010, 2011 that are due to the additional work requirements driven by the Green Energy Act? 

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, I'm sorry, I don't want to take you off track.  But regarding the executive compensation, I think the witness panel said there were two instances and did they only give us the details on one of those instances?


MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I believe I said 40 percent reduction for the CEO and 25 percent reduction for the general counsel. 

MS. NOWINA:  Those were the 2007 or 2009?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.  2007. 

MS. NOWINA:  2007?  Did you not say there were reductions in 2009 as well. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry, there was one in 2009 for our CFO and I don't know the decrease for that position.  

MS. NOWINA:  Could we add that to the undertaking?  

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, I thought that was included in the undertaking, I'm sorry.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

MR. MILLAR:  Same undertaking, we will just add that bit.  

MR. WARREN:  Panel, my question was with respect to the increases in executive compensation referred to in this paragraph driven by the additional work requirements from the Green Energy Act.  I wonder if you could, if somebody could quantify that amount for me, please.  

MR. VILLETT:  I would just like to provide a little bit of background to this response that perhaps was not provided in the evidence or the IR responses.  

In the corporate management area, we had a vice president position, I believe the title was vice president and assistant to the president.  

That position was vacated and not replaced.  Then this special advisor position was later created.  

The individual who filled the special advisor position was the former head of asset management.  

The vice president of corporate projects then assumed responsibility for asset management, as well.  So in total when you look at these changes, there is actually a reduction of one vice president and one executive assistant as a result of these changes.  

So I just wanted to provide that additional background.  Although there is an increase here in the corporate management section, there were reductions elsewhere in asset management. 

MR. WARREN:  I am happy to hear that, sir, but my question was - and I just want to quantify what the increase - and you can give me a net number if you like, but I just want to know what this means increases due mainly to the additional requirements required by the Green Energy Act.  Can you quantify that?  If you can, you can.  If you can't, you can't.   

MR. VILLETT:  It is difficult to provide a, an exact amount.  

The special advisor role, I would say -- I wouldn't say it is 100 percent related to the Green Energy Act.  So "primarily" may have been too strong a word in the evidence.  

They're certainly part of the role is related to green energy act but there are a number of other responsibilities that this position also has.  

MR. ROGERS:  Can I help.  I am instructed that in Mr. Van Dusen's estimate or guesstimate as it's been called beings approximately two million dollars or so was attributable to this factor, I believe.  This area.  If that helps.  

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rogers two million dollars attributable to this area of what?  Executive compensation due to Green Energy Act?  

MR. ROGERS:  The areas shown on table 1, C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 2.  

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thanks very much.  

Panel, I want to turn to another portion of that evidence.  Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 12 of 25.  

This deals with the communications function and, in particular, I want to see if I can get a handle on the component of that which is the costs associated with the relations with First Nations and Metis communities.  

If I look at that exhibit, and also if you could turn up Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 35, the School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 35.  That is Exhibit H, Tab 10, schedule 35.  

Just to burden you with one more in this context, panel, it is an interrogatory of my client Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 20.  Do you have those three documents now?  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I do.  

MR. WARREN:  Dealing first with the School Energy Coalition response Exhibit H, Tab 10, schedule 35, on page 2 of 2, towards the bottom there is a paragraph that begins with the words:  
"In carrying out its consultation with First Nations and Metis..." 
And the second sentence it says:   
"Hydro One's First Nations and Metis consultation strategy applies to the First Nations and Metis groups who are potentially affected by the Green Energy Act."  

Now, I take it from that, panel -- and you correct me if I am wrong -- I take it that the increases in the costs of the, costs for relations with First Nations and Metis is driven primarily by the Green Energy Act.  Is that correct?  

MR. VILLETT:  I wouldn't necessarily say "primarily."  I would say that is a driver.  

However the overall increase in Hydro One's work program is also a significant driver of these increases.  

MR. WARREN:  If I look, then, just in that context, panel, at the interrogatory response to my client, that's Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 20, I see that the table there indicates that the function for First Nations and Metis relations increases from -- sorry, 2009 it is 1.5 million, has more than doubled that to 3.4 million in 2010, and then 2011 it is 3.5 million.  Do you see those numbers, panel?  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  

MR. WARREN:  Is it incorrect of me, in light of what you have said in your response to the School Energy Coalition, that the preponderance of that spending is attributable to the Green Energy Act?  Is that not fair?  

MR. VILLETT:  Again, I would say the Green Energy Act is a factor, but it is not necessarily the entire factor.  The work program as Hydro One has expanded our work program, there will be increased likelihood that our projects could affect First Nations and Metis territory. 

So it is not just the green energy projects that could impact on those territories and require consultation with the First Nations and Metis communities.  

MR. WARREN:  Would it be fair for me to assume that the Ontario Power Authority is also increasing its spending in dealing with Metis and First Nations, particularly in relation to the Green Energy Act?  

MR. VILLETT:  I am not aware of what the Ontario Power Authority is doing. 

MR. WARREN:  The reason I asked the question is I wonder to what extent there has been an effort to coordinate the communications and other activities dealing with First Nations and Metis among the Ontario Power Authority, Hydro One Networks and the Ontario government.  

So that three groups aren't speaking to the same folks about the same thing and spending, each of them spending money.  Do you know if there has been any effort to coordinate those activities?  

MR. VILLETT:  I don't know if there has been.  I know that Hydro One would be speaking towards the projects that we're proposing to put forward.  

MR. WARREN:  And the projects you would be proposing to put forward, may I suggest they would be linking generation projects within First Nations and Metis communities.  Fair?  

MR. VILLETT:  That would be one type of project.  There are other activities that the First Nations and Metis department could be involved with, as well.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it if I were to ask the question whether or not there has been an effort to reduce spending by coordinating activities among Hydro One Networks, the Ontario government and the OPA, you would not know the answer to that question?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. WARREN:  Could I then turn to the third topic I want to cover, which is the general counsel and secretary function?  And in this context, a little further on in the same exhibit, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7.

Looking at the page 15 of that, I see that the costs of the general counsel and secretary function, just broadly speaking -- this is before allocation between transportation -- sorry, transmission and distribution is 9.0 million in 2010 and 9.2 million in 2011.  Those are increases over the 2009 bridge year.  Do you see those numbers?

MR. VILLETT:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I look to the second -- sorry, page 16 of that, I see the second full paragraph:
"The increase in costs in 2009 and 2010 are driven mainly by increased work requirements related to the GEGEA and the records management project, expected to begin in 2009 and continue through 2010."

Again, I ask the question:  Can you identify for me the extent to which the increases in 2010, 2011 are attributable to the Green Energy Act?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Mr. Warren, perhaps I could assist here.

In previous panels and last time we spoke about the difficulty in trying to segment or segregate the costs or the staff or anything by green energy or any other dimension, Mr. Van Dusen undertook, under duress, to provide a rough guesstimate as to how much the indirect cost would be, not otherwise captured in other direct evidence.  And he provided a figure of 10 to 15 million.  

And so these kinds of costs that you are seeking now would be contained in that very rough guesstimate.

MR. WARREN:  I am troubled to hear that Mr. Van Dusen ever thought he was under duress in this proceeding.  

MR. ROGERS:  It was over the lunch hour that the duress was.

MR. WARREN:  I am being facetious.  Thank you for that Mr. Rogers.  That provides a meaningful insight into it.  

Thanks for that answer, panel.  I am going to be -- if I can, I want to persist on this theme just a little further to see if we can get some specific detail.  In this context, if we could shift to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 8, page 2 of 7.

In this connection, I would also like you to pull up two interrogatory responses.  Those are, first, Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 42, and the second is Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 24.

This is on the topic of facilities and real estate capital expenditures.  Dealing first with Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 8, the increases globally -- before we deal with the allocation, increases globally go from 2009, 22.1 million, to more than double that, 50.9 million, in 2010, 50.3 million in 2011.

Do you see that?  Do you see those numbers?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And to what extent -- I am going to ask the question:  To what extent are those increases, those are capital expenses, hard costs, attributable to the Green Energy Act; do you know?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  It might help if you turn up -- there is a further interrogatory response, Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 62, which is a response to an interrogatory from, I believe, my friend, Mr. Buonaguro.  

MR. VILLETT:  There are a couple of interrogatories I can refer you to with respect to the real estate facilities section.  H-1-105.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. VILLETT:  Part (b).  Do you have that?

MR. WARREN:  I do, indeed.

MR. VILLETT:  So you will see there we mention that there is $5 million in 2010 and 4-1/2 million dollars in 2011 related primarily to the Green Energy Act for GTA facilities.

MR. WARREN:  Can I just stay with that number for a moment? 

MR. VILLETT:  Sure.

MR. WARREN:  Within the GTA $5 million, a total of $9.5 million in 2010, 2011 within the GTA attributable to Green Energy Act, what is that for?

MR. VILLETT:  It is to lease additional facilities for our staff.

MR. WARREN:  Staff?  $9 million worth of costs for lease facilities for staff just for the Green Energy Act?

MR. VILLETT:  Sorry, let me clarify.  That is not the lease costs, but it is the capital costs related to those facilities.

MR. WARREN:  The capital costs related to those facilities, but that is driven by the Green Energy Act within the GTA?  Have I got that right?

MR. VILLETT:  It is primarily the Green Energy Act, but there could be other factors related to the larger work program, as well.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  Go ahead.  I interrupted you.  You were going on to other things.

MR. VILLETT:  H-7-89, if I could turn you to that?

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. VILLETT:  And if you look at part (a) and turn on to page 2, the first paragraph of the response (a), again, you will see a figure of $5 million in 2010 and $5 million in 2011, and this is related to investments for field facilities, primarily related to Green Energy Act.

MR. WARREN:  I want to deal with the head office facilities, then - thank you for those answers - the head office facilities.

If I go to Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 42, I see that the head office facilities, the costs increase from the bridge year costs of $600,000 to $32 million in 2010, 32.4 million in 2011.  Have I read those numbers correctly?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

Now, you will agree with me, panel - I don't want to overstate it or indeed understate it - that is a significant expansion in costs related to your head office facilities; correct?

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me, panel, that looked at globally, the increases in spending for Hydro One for 2010 and 2011 are large?  The capital spending is large?  Other panels have dealt with it.  

My question in that context is:  Given the increases, what efforts were made to mitigate, defer, forestall, these substantial increases in head office costs?

MR. VILLETT:  Okay.  Our head office lease was coming to an end, so Hydro One undertook an RFP process.  We hired a commercial real estate firm to assist us with that process.

There were 11 proponents that bid.  That was then narrowed down to five, which were evaluated against a number of criteria that we established.

Then, finally, there was a final short list of two from which we chose.

When we were considering -- when we were making our final decision, the cost of any capital-related improvements for any of the options we were considering was considered within that decision.

So I can assure you that the Board did consider these costs.  The 43 Bay Street facility, the interior is more than 25 years old and it has now reached end of life.  Similarly, the furniture was obtained from our -- from the previous tenant and is also now at its end of life.

MR. WARREN:  Is the answer to my question that there were no efforts made to mitigate these costs?  For example, you didn't decide -- didn't say, in light of the overwhelming increases in spending in other areas, we're just going to stay with these facilities for longer?

MR. VILLETT:  As I said, the facilities were reaching end of life.  One of the factors -- one of the issues was with our raised flooring system.  It is failing, increasingly.  It is creating a safety hazard for employees.

If we look at our latest health and safety report, 38 percent of all health and safety incidents at head office were due to slips, trips and falls as opposed to I believe it was 15 percent elsewhere.  So the facility's at end of life.  There is also safety issues.  This is the time to make those investments now that we have secured a longer term lease.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I want to turn to one final area and that is transport and work equipment.  And in this context if you could turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 9, page 2.

Now, am I right that this is -- if you excuse the crude reductionism of this question, is this about trucks mainly?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  This is a variety of, again, transportation and work equipment.  So this is trucks, line tensioning trucks, all sorts of vehicles for the purpose of transport and work.

MR. WARREN:  And am I right in the numbers, if I look at the numbers, that the expenditure in the bridge year 2009 was $39.7 million, and in 2010 it is $133.4 million, and in 2011 it is $74.1 million?  Have I got the numbers correctly?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me, of that, how much of that would be attributable, that increase would be attributable to Green Energy Act initiatives?  Do you know?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I can tell you that the increase is because of increased work.  I don't have a number or a segmentation for green energy.

MR. WARREN:  Would it be possible to get that segmentation?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, if I could help.  I am told and Mr. Malozewski can correct me if I am wrong, but I am told this is difficult to do.  An estimate could perhaps be given with the same degree of precision that Mr. Van Dusen attempted on the OM&A side.  Correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Malozewski but that is my understanding.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  No, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  All I can ask, Madam Chair, is for an undertaking and ask that Mr. Rogers apply his obviously very effective levels of duress on the lunch break.

MR. ROGERS:  I will, and we will.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.4.    

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  TO ADVISE IN YEARS 2009, 2010, AND 2011 HOW MUCH OF THE INCREASE IN EXPENDITURES WOULD BE ATTRIBUTABLE TO GREEN ENERGY ACT INITIATIVES

MR. WARREN:  Panel, again, I don't want to overstate or understate this but this is -- I think you would agree with me from 2009 to 2010, a very substantial increase in money spent on trucks and equipment.  Would you not agree with that?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  It is an increase and it is an increase that is commensurate with the size of the overall work program increasing.

MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me, let's just deal, if we can, notionally with the -- with a component of this which I think we would agree is attributable to Green Energy Act.

If the initiatives for distributor generation of various kinds, if they don't come to fruition, can we agree that some of this equipment will not be necessary?

My concern, panel, so that you understand where I am going with this is, is asking to recover this amount from ratepayers in circumstances where the expenditures may not be necessary.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Depending on the degree of this hypothetical decrease, there may be some decreases in transport and work equipment.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, was there a study that underlay this increase, some work plan that you decided that you needed this number of new trucks, equipment?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  No, there was no study.  This is just an outcome of the regular business planning process on the side of execution planning.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me what efforts were made to minimize the costs in this area in light of the substantial increase.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  There were several challenges made of the transport and work equipment management to provide assurances that this was the level of investment required in order to accommodate the increased work program.

And the results of that are as filed.

MR. WARREN:  If I just stay -- I apologize for staying with this panel but Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 9, page 2, the amount spent in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 is roughly consistent, is in the 40 to 50 million dollar range, and then we get this massive increase in 2010.

Is it the case that all of the vehicles have suddenly broken down that you need to replace them or something?  I mean, what's the reason for this huge increase this year, sir?  If it isn't the Green Energy Act, what is it?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Again, if you were to look at the evidence, if you were to look at the tables that for example summarize OM&A and capital in this application, you would see that approximately just slightly less than half of that is for sustainment work.

And the rest of it is predominantly for development work, not all of which is green-driven.

In the case of TWE, they are responding to the increased work program and their investments are a combination of sizing for the increased work program, and asset condition issues.  So replacement of vehicles that have come to end of life, and so forth.

MR. WARREN:  I presume -- just finally, panel, I presume that the vehicles that have come to end of life, that there is life cycle of these things break down they have to be replaced, those kinds of considerations would have obtained in 2006 to 2009, as well.  You would have been replacing vehicles in the ordinary course because they came to end of life.  Right?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That is correct.  However, I should point out that the securing of vehicles is not a constant through time.

So you do have what we would refer to as lumpy purchases, purchases of transport work equipment at certain point in time and those would come due as well in a chunk.

MR. WARREN:  In this case a big chunk.  Right?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  It would be, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Why don't we take our morning break now and return at 10:30.

--- Recess taken at 10:10 a.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 10:35 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Crocker -- Mr. Rogers, did you have anything else?
Preliminary Matters: 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, if I could, please, Madam Chair.  First of all, may I just advise the Board that the following further undertakings are available now and can be filed:  Exhibit J1.6, J3.1, J3.2, J4.8, J5.1, J6.8, and J6.9.

The first, J1.6, contains the updated information from the OPA, which I think people will be interested in.  I just draw that to your attention, Madam Chair.  That is just information that just became available.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  May I also address this question of the transcript corrections?

I spoke to the reporters over the break, and they have gone back and actually listened to the tape, and, first of all, the first correction I wanted to make was volume 3, December 10th, page 58, line 9, where the witness said, quote, "We would do an allocation", and the witness meant to say, We would not do an allocation.  

The reporters have gone back and listened, and it was the witness apparently who made the mistake, not the reporter, which we acknowledge.  The witness just wanted to correct it.  That's what he said, that it is incorrect, and it is a "not".

The second one, which is volume 5, page 126, line 17, it was reported as saying, quote, "you are going to accept lower risk", closed quote.  The witness felt that was not correct.  The reporters have listened to the tape, and actually someone coughed then, and the word -- I don't know who it was.  I am going to blame Mr. Faye.  I am going to blame Mr. Faye.

MS. NOWINA:  Because he's not here to defend himself.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  The "lower" should have said "more", which is the correct meaning.  So it will now read, quote, "You are going to accept more risk."

Thank you.  Sorry, it got a lot more complicated than I intended.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, all of my questions have to do with the same trucks as Mr. Warren was speaking of, so it made sense, I think, for us to --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker, just before you do that, on this exhibit, just so that -- Exhibit J6.8, this is the exhibit that shows the company's ranking on the benchmark performance.

Because of the copy, it's not clear which year is 2007 and which year is 2005.  Can you just clarify that for me?

MR. ROGERS:  I can't do it now, sir, but I will following lunch.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crocker, since you are going to the same topics, obviously you won't duplicate the line of questioning that we have just heard.

MR. CROCKER:  No, I won't.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Panel, Mr. Warren, was trying to allocate costs in this area to the Green Energy Act, and there seemed to be some doubt left in all of this.  And I wonder whether you could turn up, please, VECC interrogatory H, tab 7, schedule 92.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes, we have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Just wait for the monitor to show it.

And if you could just scroll down a little bit farther, do you see the chart toward the bottom of the page?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes, I do.

MR. CROCKER:  Now, as I understand this chart, are you not allocating $83 million of the transportation and work equipment capital expenditures to the Green Energy Act programs?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That is correct.  Madam Chair, I just wanted to apologize.  I did forget that we had this response, and the information is as presented.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let me go back to my, then, prepared questions, and I don't have very many.

Can I ask, please, that you turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 2, table 2?

Okay?  As I understand it, these are the capital costs allocated to transportation and work equipment from distribution, or I guess the costs of that allocated to distribution?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Which is why the numbers are a little bit different than the numbers that Mr. Warren was speaking about.

Once again, I don't have to reiterate that there appears to be significant increases in costs here, and I wonder whether those increases in costs reflect the change in criteria, a change in the way in which you are dealing with this area?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  No, it does not.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Earlier on we, with other panels, canvassed the issue of investment prioritization, minimum, level 1, level 2, et cetera, et cetera.

At what level is this spending?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  So to clarify, the investment prioritization process deals with direct work, the planning of direct work.

The expenditures, the investments in TWE, fall on the work execution side.  They undertake their risk assessments and so forth, but it's more a matching of the resources required, work equipment, transporting equipment, and so forth, to execute the work.

MR. CROCKER:  So what I am asking you -- what I am asking you to do is an apples-and-oranges comparison, a prioritization you didn't do?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  They would have undertaken their own prioritization.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Going to the vegetation management program, I don't know whether you have to turn this up or not, but in D1, tab 3, schedule 9, I believe Hydro One says that part of the reason for an increase in the costs of that program is an increase in equipment requirements.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Could you just identify which page you are looking at, sir?

MR. CROCKER:  Page 1.  Let me see where the reference is.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Are you in D1-3-9 or...

MR. CROCKER:  Give me a sec.  The second bullet, labour and equipment resources.

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I'm sorry, sir, is that D1-3-9?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  The page I am looking at has a couple of paragraphs, short paragraphs, and then two bullets. 

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Right. 

MR. CROCKER:  The second bullet. 

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Vegetation management?  

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  We go down to the middle of the, one, two, three fourth line it says:  
"During this cycle transition, the impact on labour and equipment resources is significant."

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's what it states, yes.  

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  My question basically is:  Is a significant part of this cost increase due to the reduced cycle of your vegetation management program, the trucks and the work equipment?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That is one of the drivers that's identified as laid out in the evidence.  I don't have a specific breakdown.  

MR. CROCKER:  Well, that's what I was sort of going to ask you to do, if you could do it for me.  

You are asking to go from an 8-year cycle to a 7-year cycle and I wonder how much of that increase from 30.2 million to 101.4 million might be attributed to that aspect of your application.  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I don't have that information, sir, I'm sorry.  

MR. CROCKER:  Can I ask for an undertaking, please, for you to get it.  

MR. ROGERS:  I believe an estimate can be made, Madam Chair, and we will attempt to do that.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

MR. CROCKER:  All right. 

MS. NOWINA:  We will get an undertaking number, Mr. Crocker.  

MR. MILLAR:  J7.5.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF THE INCREASE FROM 30.2 million TO 101.4 million MIGHT BE ATTRIBUTED TO GOING FROM AND 8-YEAR CYCLE TO A 7-YEAR CYCLE

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  

Okay.  Let me follow up then on the question I asked you at the very beginning of this with respect to green energy.  

But it deals with the equipment generally.  As I understand it, from your material, of that $83 million that you talked about attributable to green energy, you are buying 394 units of work equipment.  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.  

MR. CROCKER:  And work equipment means trucks, as I understand it, trucks and then the other things that you attach to trucks, the lifts and the -- that's correct, isn't it?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes.  Broadly speaking, yes.  

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, so how many trucks, then, are you specifically referring to?  Do you know?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I can only go by the unit indication that is here. 

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you tell me?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  So in terms of work equipment, we are talking about a total of 394 units of work equipment.  How many of those are specifically just trucks, I don't have that information.  

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  All right.  Let's just go with the units that you've got.  

According to Mr. Clark's math, that's about $191,000 per unit.  That's correct, isn't it?  Subject to check, can you confirm that?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Subject to check.  

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  

Now, we have heard earlier that the Green Energy Plan and the initiatives associated with the Green Energy Act are going to roll out sequentially and there will be a lot more in 2011 than there will be in 2010.  

And I wonder whether you can tell us your plans, with respect to the scheduling of the purchase of this equipment.  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I can direct your attention to page 2 of D1, tab 3, schedule 9 where we identify the expenditures overall, across the years.  

I don't have a specific schedule for this equipment.  

MR. CROCKER:  Well, would you agree with me, with respect specifically to the equipment that you are buying to respond to the green energy initiatives, that it makes sense to purchase that equipment as is needed sequentially as the programs that are going to demand it unfold or rollout?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Broadly speaking, yes, sir.  

MR. CROCKER:  And do you have specific plans to do it that way?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Broadly speaking, yes, sir.  

MR. CROCKER:  Are they in any of the material that we have, do you know?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  I am not aware of that, sir.  

MR. CROCKER:  If in fact your purchases lag a bit and the program -- if you agree with me that it makes sense to do that, as you did, that is to buy sequentially as the program rolls out, if your purchases lag behind your, the program rollout, your needs, can you rent on an interim basis?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  It likely depends -- I don't know the specific answer, but it likely depends on the type of transport and work equipment we're talking about.  

Obviously you can't just go to a Hertz and rent a line-tensioning truck, for example.  So it really depends on the type of vehicle.  

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair, I have no further questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. DeRose. 

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, I am going to be very short so I thought I would jump ahead right now, if that is fine.  
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Panel, my name is Vince DeRose, I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  

I have two broad areas of questioning.  The first is a carry-over from an earlier panel and if I could have you turn to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2 of 4 and you will see there is a table, table 1 in that evidence.  

Is it up on your screen, panel?  Do you have that evidence?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Yes, we do.  

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, panel we have been talking to previous panels about indirect green energy costs and trying to segregate those indirect green energy costs.  

I take it you have either been listening to previous panels or you have been briefed on what has been described as indirect green energy costs?  Is that fair?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's fair.  

MR. DeROSE:  And a previous panel -- actually the previous two panels have indicated that there would be some indirect green energy costs in the capitalized overheads.  

And I understand you are the panel that can provide information on that.  Is that correct?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.  We can provide a guesstimate. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay and what is your guest nature for the indirect green energy costs in the capitalized overheads. 

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Again, very high level, very broad-brush, but the estimate is approximately the same as the OM&A, which is 10 to 15 million.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  

 Now, panel, now I would like to pick up on a different topic, something that Mr. Faye talked to you briefly about and it is with respect to the Mercer study.  

If I could take you to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 10 of 8 -- I'm sorry, 10 of 18.  

And specifically I am looking at what is described as section 7, the Compensation Benchmarking Study.  

Now, you talked to Mr. Faye about the benchmarking study.  This was filed in your previous transmission case.  And you confirmed on Tuesday afternoon that that is the study, if I understand it right, that concluded that Hydro One, in total, was about 17 percent above the market median; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, on an average basis, 17 percent, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I just want to understand your evidence a little bit better.  At the bottom of page 10, you say:
"However, the results of this study should only be applied with caution, for reasons set out below." 

I would like to just have a very short discussion about the reasons that are then set out below.  If we go to the next paragraph at page 11 of 18, the first paragraph starts:  
"Study results are essentially determined by PWU compensation levels." 

I take it this is -- and then the paragraph goes on to explain that.

I take it this is the first reason why you say caution should be used in applying that study; that the results were essentially determined by PWU compensation levels?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  The reference of this 17 percent is one of the -- probably the most significant driver is the PWU compensation, because that accounted for 21 percent over median.  MCP compensation and Society compensation was just below and just slightly above median.

So, clearly, the PWU compensation is the major driver for the 17 percent.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the fact that the PWU compensation levels were a main driver, that's something that was in evidence before the Board in the transmission case; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, the next paragraph goes on:  PWU wage rates at Hydro One are higher than wages paid at other LDC companies.

That falls into the same category that you have just described.  It's the PWU driver; is that fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's fair.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then when I turn the page, the paragraph at the top of page 12 of 18, and what I was trying to do was finds what the reasons were that you felt it should be applied with caution.

The other reason I was able to identify was the last sentence of the first paragraph:   
"By having highly qualified and flexible trades staff, Hydro One is able to service a very large geographic area efficiently and less costly..." 

I am not sure if that is -- is that, in your mind, a reason that the Mercer study should be applied with caution?

MR. MCDONELL:  That would be true, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it, again, that's a fact that would have been known to the transmission -- to the Board hearing the transmission case?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, when I read the last paragraph, those were the two reasons that I was able to identify why the Mercer study, in your view, should be applied with caution.

Are there other reasons that I have missed?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I think what we're really referring to here is, when we look at, for instance, a regional maintainer line classification, that is a multi-skilled position within Hydro One.  So the caution is that we might be comparing that rate to power line maintainers in other LDCs.

And we believe that our regional maintainer classification has additional skills and duties beyond that of a power line maintainer.

MR. DeROSE:  And these were issues that were dealt with in the Mercer study, though, were they not?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I don't believe so.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so is that the one reason that is before this Panel that was not in evidence before the transmission?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I think we have to step back and take a look at the history.

I mean, we have collective agreements that we have inherited from Ontario Hydro, so that has essentially established the floor for 90 percent of our staff.

And the only way to alter collective agreements is through the collective bargaining process, so you have to have agreement with your trade union.

MR. DeROSE:  I don't take issue with that, and I 
am -- well, let me try to rephrase it this way.

What reasons exist in your current application for being cautious in applying the Mercer study that were not before the Board in the transmission case?

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay, perhaps I can help you out.

What we have included in this application is fresh and updated evidence that we would ask this Board to consider when it reviews our application.

And perhaps I could take the opportunity to take you to that evidence at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

MR. DeROSE:  I am there.

MR. MCDONELL:  You're there, okay.  So if I look mostly at page 14, you will see a series -- you will see a chart, and this chart shows the base rate for equal or same classifications that existed at Ontario Hydro at the time of the merger and how the base rate has changed over 10 years.

So the comparison is at two points in time, in 1999 when these jobs were all within Ontario Hydro, and in 2009, and what is the percentage increase in the base rate?

So these classifications are like-to-like comparisons.  So if I just picked one, the top one, the mechanical maintainer, that is an equal classification to a regional maintainer mechanical when we're at Ontario Hydro.  Similar fashion, a shift control technician was an equal classification to a regional maintainer electrical, and the same pattern goes down the chart.

So if you take a look at an example, maybe three-quarters down the way -- the page, you see a regional field mechanic transport and work equipment mechanic.  Back in 1999 when these classifications were at Ontario Hydro, they paid $26.20.

And you can see in 2009 that Hydro One's base rate has gone up by 36 percent, OPG 71 percent, and Bruce Power 63 percent.

Take another example.  The mechanical maintainer, the top one, the regional maintainer mechanical and mechanical maintainer, a slight difference in pay in 1999.  It's about a 3 percent difference.

Ten years later, the Hydro One rate has gone up 36 percent, OPG 54 percent, and Bruce Power 74 percent.

So I could go through all of these, but what the pattern you will see is that the base rate for Hydro One classifications, that at one point were considered to be equal classifications to the jobs now at OPG and Bruce, has risen on a much slower rate than at OPG and Bruce.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Let me just understand what you are trying to achieve through this evidence.

First of all, you are trying to show that since 1999 you've made improvements over the last 10 years.  Is that...

MR. MCDONELL:  Since 1999, the base rate -- 

MR. DeROSE:  Compared to 2009.

MR. MCDONELL:  -- compared to rates for similar and equal jobs at OPG and Bruce have gone up less than at OPG and Bruce.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I take it am I right in my understanding that Hydro One -- you prepared these charts.  Mercer did not?

MR. MCDONELL:  We prepared these charts.  We're able to get this information from collective agreements which are public documents, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so you selected Hydro One, OPG, Bruce Power, because you came to the conclusion that those would be appropriate for you to compare to?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, they're very appropriate for us to compare to, because these are companies that we compete for for many of the staff that we hire, apprentices, new grads, as well as we're very vulnerable to losing our experienced staff to these companies, as well.  So we think that they're very relevant comparators.

MR. DeROSE;  Now, when you were directed by the Board to conduct a benchmarking study and you retained Mercer, my understanding is that they included a number of utilities beyond just these three; is that fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. DeROSE:  I take it you would agree with me your tables that you have prepared at pages 14 and 15, those wouldn't constitute a benchmarking study, would they?

MR. MCDONELL:  It is certainly a much smaller sample.  I would give you that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I could have you turn to page 12 of 18 of Exhibit C1?

MR. MCDONELL:  Page 12, I am there.

MR. DeROSE:  And under the heading "2008 Transmission Decision", of all, just for a point of clarification, in the first sentence you refer to EB-2008-0272.  

Just for clarity, that was your 2009 and 2010 transmission decision that you filed in 2008.  Is that -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So we aren't talking about your 2008 transmission decision.  Really we're talking about your 2009-2010?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. DeROSE:  And you describe it in two paragraphs, and I am -- you focus only on one quote from the Board where the Board -- and I will read it:

"As such the Board's examination cannot include an analysis of the myriad of compromises and trade-offs associated with collective bargaining."  

You do not go on to acknowledge that the Board, in that case, disallowed $4 million per year; correct?  

MR. MCDONELL:  We did not include that, that's correct.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And can we agree that in the Board's Decision -- if you don't recall if I do have an excerpt but I think I can just read it, it is probably easier -- is that the Board disallowed $4 million in each of the test years and the rationale or the reason provided was that the level of adjustment -- I am reading here:  
"The level of adjustment goes some way towards aligning Hydro One's costs with other comparable companies."   

MR. MCDONELL:  That's what it says, yes.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  

Why is that something that you did not put in your application?  I would think that that's relevant when you are talking about the Mercer study and you have an entire section with the heading "2008 Transmission Decision" that you -- that's not something that you highlighted for the Board or...

MR. MCDONELL:  I think the focus of the quote that we put in was to emphasize the fact that we really weren't asking the Board to consider the trade-offs that we may have achieved at collective bargaining because we didn't actually put any trade-offs in our charts that are found at tab C1, sorry C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  

What we're trying to demonstrate in those charts is that Hydro One has made significant gains in cost reduction and increased productivity through our courses of collective bargaining.  We weren't really trying to compare to what we gave up and what we got.  We were just simply showing that we have made significant gains.  That's what we wanted to highlight and emphasize with this Board.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Did you not think it was relevant that the Board disallowed $4 million?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I think it was very relevant that the Board dismissed $4 million.  

But what we wanted to do -- we're not dismissing the Mercer report.  

What we are trying to do is provide fresh evidence to have the Board consider some other evidence when they render the decision in this case.  

MR. DeROSE:  Okay. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Which they didn't have in the transmission case. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the final question, you can confirm that you have not, in this case, proactively reduced your compensation costs by $4 million in the distribution application.


MR. MCDONELL:  We, as I mentioned before, we are 90 percent unionized.  We have collective agreements with the Power Workers' Union that expires in 2011 and with the Society in 2013.  So we are not even in a period of time where we can bargain with our unions.  

MR. DeROSE:  I take it that is a "no"?


MR. MCDONELL:  That would be "no." 

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

Mr. DeVellis?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  I am going to start with that same topic that Mr. DeRose was on.  And I actually had an excerpt from the transmission decision that I gave to Mr. Millar last time.  I wonder if we can enter it as an exhibit.  

While we are doing that perhaps we can enter the other two documents that I provided the last day.  

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeVellis, I have a number of documents here I want to make sure I have the right ones.  The first document you are referring to are excerpts from the 2008-0272 -- exhibits, excerpts from the EB-2008-0272?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  So we will call that K7.2.   
EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  EXCERPTS FROM EB-2008-0272 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Just to be clear, it is a -- partially an excerpt from the decision and partially an excerpt from some of the submissions that were before the Board. 

MR. MILLAR:  It's a 13-page document. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  That will be K7.2. 

MR. MILLAR:  Did you want to enter other exhibits at this time?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I had a spreadsheet entitled, "Hydro One Shared Services Costs."  

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you that will be K7.3.  
EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  SPREADSHEET ENTITLED, "HYDRO ONE SHARED SERVICES COSTS"  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And the last exhibit is -- it was an excerpt from the evidence in EB-2008-0272.  It is a one-page excerpt.  

MR. MILLAR:  That is from C1, tab 2, schedule 5?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 4, that's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  And that is K7.4.    
EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  PAGE 4 FROM EB-2008-0272, EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 5


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  

If we could actually stay on the same exhibit, Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 12.  

I think you mentioned these two, I guess rationales, if I can call it that, for why, in Hydro One's view, the disallowance from the transmission decision shouldn't be followed here.  

I will paraphrase and you tell me if I have paraphrased them.  The first is that Hydro One has made gains in collective bargaining to reduce costs.  Correct?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  The other is that there is a more useful comparison, I guess than the Mercer study and that is the Bruce Power and OPG that you referred to earlier as well. 

MR. MCDONELL:  We wanted to provide some fresh evidence, yes. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  So can we then turn to the excerpt from the decision.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Which page?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  So start at the bottom of page 27 of the decision.  I just want to take you to a couple of the references that the Board made, just to show you the kind of evidence that the Board considered in the transmission decision.  

The bottom of page 27 the last sentence, it says: 
"Hydro One stated that the evidence demonstrates that average PWU wages per employee have increased an average of 0.1 percent per year between 2004 and 2010 and that the PWU wages have decreased by an average of 1 percent per year between 2006 and 2010."  

Do you see that there?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  

And then on page 30 of the decision, in the last paragraph, the Board says: 
"In determining the appropriate disallowance, the Board has also considered that Hydro One has demonstrated effort and progress in managing the collective agreements that were established by the predecessor company.  However, it is worth noting that the Board places little weight on the company's submission in its final argument that its average annual increase per employee has remained very low over its recent history."

Do you see that there? 

MR. MCDONELL:  I do. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Then if you go over to the next page, about the middle of the paragraph where it discusses the $4 million disallowance. 

The paragraph, the sentence beginning: 
"The Board has already indicated that while the full level of compensation has not been justified, Hydro One has made strides in controlling costs.  The Board will disallow $4 million in each of the test years."  

And the $4 million was a lower amount than had been suggested by some of the intervenors and it discusses at the beginning of that paragraph the fact that the difference between the median level and the -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  -- and Hydro One's wages are about $13 million to Hydro One Distribution.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Transmission.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Transmission, right, sorry, at the time.  Right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  So you will agree with me that in arriving at the $4 million disallowance, the Board already took into consideration some of the factors that Hydro One has mentioned in the transmission application, as well as now repeating in this proceeding.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't pretend to speak for the Board but just reading this I presume so, that's what they did. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Actually, there is one other excerpt I wanted to take you to and that is an excerpt from the PWU submissions and that's at page 11 of my page 11, my document.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  And that is paragraph 50 of the PWU submissions and they say the comparison -- they made the comparison in the previous paragraph when they talk about the comparison between Hydro One and OPG and Bruce Power and IESO.  


And then in paragraph 50, they say:
"The comparison demonstrates that from 1999 to 2009 Hydro One has been very effective relative to the other Ontario Hydro successors at managing compensation increases." 

Do you see that there?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You took us to a table earlier at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 14, the table comparing Hydro One's wage increases since 1999 relative to OPG and Bruce Power.

That actually -- that exact table, a version of that, appeared in the transmission proceeding, as well; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  A couple of clarifications.  First of all, this table was not part of our prefiled evidence.

This table, part of this table, came as a result of a Board interrogatory, I believe.  So what we wanted to do is to enhance this table by providing some other jobs that weren't originally in that interrogatory response.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That was Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41 in the transmission decision?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Could you produce that for us?

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't have that with me.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Perhaps by undertaking?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I could do that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.6, and that is to provide a copy of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41 from the EB-2008-0272 proceeding.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF EXHIBIT I, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 41 FROM THE EB-2008-0272 PROCEEDING.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So my question, it appears that all of these factors were already before the Board in the transmission decision, and the result of that was still a $4 million disallowance?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I wouldn't totally agree with that for a couple of reasons.

First of all, this chart we're now looking at is a broader version of what we had in the transmission case.

And we also took the -- we took this opportunity in this filing to show more comparisons, but we also took the opportunity in our prefiled evidence to show another very important factor, and that is Bruce and OPG, and as a matter of fact the other successor companies, are very relevant comparators to Hydro One in terms of being able to recruit staff, and also be able to retain our current staff, which was not part of the argument made in the transmission case.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So I take from that that you provided additional detail in this proceeding, but the concepts are the same that were already canvassed before the transmission -- in the transmission proceeding?

MR. MCDONELL:  We produced additionally -- I think "concepts" is the word you used, yes, but we also produced an additional argument about why OPG and Bruce, in particular, are most relevant to us.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, all right.

Can you turn to Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 40?  That's an interrogatory response to School Energy Coalition.

MR. MCDONELL:  Can you give me the reference again, please?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Sorry, did I say "I"?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 40.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  At page 2 in question (b)(iv), we asked for the amount -- the equivalent amount of the $4 million disallowance in the transmission decision; that is, what the equivalent would be for Hydro One Distribution.  Do you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  In part (iv)?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Your answer is on page 3, and you say that the equivalent amount for Hydro One Distribution for 2010, taking into account your increased work program, would be $9 million?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is that correct?  Okay.

And can you tell me a little bit of how you arrived at the $9 million?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  I can help you with that.  We used the same methodology as we did with the transmission reduction to 4 percent, but of course we had to update it based on this distribution filing, plus the current business plan. 

The formula or the methodology that we used previously was on a different business plan.  We had to update it to reflect the current one, plus the distribution programs that we have in this filing.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. McDonell, you said 4 percent.  Madam Chair, I think he meant 4 million.

MR. MCDONELL:  Did I say 4 percent?  Sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  It is a little confusing.  You took the $4 million, and then you massaged it to try and yield a figure that would apply to this case with the updated costs.

MR. MCDONELL:  Thanks for that correction.  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So just to be clear, that $9 million is comparable to the $4 million disallowance from the transmission?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, it is.  Thanks.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Go on to a different area, then, and that is your shared services costs, and I will ask you to pull up the spreadsheet that we prepared and submitted to your counsel on Tuesday -- or Monday, I think, and that is Exhibit K7.3.

Do you have that?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Have you had a chance to review the spreadsheet?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, we have taken a look at it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Let me ask you about some of the numbers.  We start with the total shared services from your transmission application, and that is in row 1 of the spreadsheet.  Do you see that, $260.5 million?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That is taken from Exhibit K7.4, which is the excerpt from the transmission application.  So that 260.5 million is accurate, then?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And that, I understand, you do transmission and distribution slightly differently, in that customer care costs are included in shared services in transmission?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so if we stay with K7.4, we are -- of the 260.5 million, you had 66.4 million in 2010 allocated to transmission?

MR. VILLETT:  We had 66.4 million.  Not all of that is an allocation.  There are some direct costs in here, for example, cost of sales, portions of information technology.

So it is not a total allocated number.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, that's fine.  But the total that would be in the transmission revenue requirement would be 66.4 million?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that is about 25.5 percent of the total?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so by corollary, then, I have calculated the distribution allocation would be about 74.5 percent?  That's in row 4.

MR. VILLETT:  Again, I just want to be careful, because there are direct costs in here.  So it's not a pure allocation number.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But of the total -- I understand it is not all allocated, but of the total shared services costs, the amount that would be in transmission revenue requirement would be 25.5 percent?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Correct?  If you were doing them at the same time, the amount that would have been in the distribution revenue requirement for distribution -- sorry, let me say that again.

If you were doing both applications at the same time, the amount that would have been in the distribution revenue requirement would have been 74.5 percent of your total?

MR. VILLETT:  There would be some portions of the shared services also allocated out to Telecom, Remotes in Brampton, so it may not be exactly 74 percent.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So it might be less?

MR. VILLETT:  Yeah, likely less.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  So then if we could turn to your distribution evidence, that's in part 2 of the table here.

You have total shared services here, in this application, of 143.7 million.  And that's from Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 4.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then to that I have added back customer care of 106.3 million?  That is also from your prefiled evidence.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So would that give me the equivalent amount of the 260.5 million from the transmission?

MR. VILLETT:  Again, with the caveat that there are certain direct costs in here that's not allocated, but I understand what your methodology --

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  And then of the 250 million, we have 92.1 allocated -- well, with the caveat of the direct charges, 92.1 million which would be in distributions revenue requirement; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Plus 106.3 million from customer care?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And that gives us a total of 198.4 million?  

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Then if we take the 198.4 million divided by 250 million, we get 79.4 percent of the total shared services costs that are in distribution's revenue requirement.  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  Based on your methodology.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So then the final number is the row 10, if we take your $250 million and you apply the same percentage from the transmission application, that is 74.5 percent, we get 186 million instead of 198 million.  Right?  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That is a difference of $12 million. 

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  I see that on your spreadsheet. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that was a very long way of getting to my question and that is:  Why -- it seems to me that your shared services costs for 2010, at least in comparison to what the -- you were awarded in the transmission proceeding, is $12 million too high.  

MR. VILLETT:  No.  I disagree with that assertion.  

If you look at the shared services costs, the common corporate functions and services are allocated based on the most recent study by Black & Veatch, asset management would be based on the most recent time studies.  So that is based on updated the most recent information.  

So it is not fair to characterize that as an overcharge.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  I see.  So you're saying if you reapply the methodology for 2010 you get a different number?  

MR. VILLETT:  I am saying that the Black & Veatch and asset management studies were updated from the transmission study.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  I understand that, but your transmission revenue requirement is based on a certain split of your total forecast 2010 costs.  Correct?  

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And so now you are effectively, if I can interpret your answer, altering your 2010 forecast in a way that your distribution revenue is higher than it -- distribution revenue requirement is higher than it would have been had you done both of these together in February at the same time.  

MR. VILLETT:  It is higher than if we -- yes, than if we used the information from the transmission study.  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Perhaps, if I can just quickly add to that.  

It is true that we did an allocation study update, certainly in the case of the asset management time study which forms part of the Black & Veatch study. 

We did undertake and an update to it and we did find that there were shifting in the allocation ratios towards distribution.  

Now we have included that new information into this application.  In retrospect, we realized that this may have caused some confusion and we are considering that, in future applications, where we have an overlap in years between the transmission and distribution applications, 2010 in this case, that we would hold off the implementation of any updates to allocations or time studies to only the year that is not common.  In this case, 2011.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, okay.  

So can I interpret your answer, is that...

The proposition I put to you is that we're correct, but in this year you are sticking to the 198 million, even though facially, at least, the amount that should be in your revenue requirement is 186 million.  

MR. VILLETT:  Again, I disagree that 186 is the appropriate figure.  We updated our Black & Veatch study.  We updated our asset management time study.  That is the most recent information and that is what we have used to calculate these allocations in this application.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  But your most recent information results in an over-recovery, at least in comparison to the amounts you were awarded which is already in your revenue requirement for 2010 for transmission.  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Actually, if you were to look at a similar sort of exercise and look at what we're asking for for common functions and services, asset management, IT, in the Distribution case, in totality, it is actually higher than the transmission portion from the transmission filing adding the distribution portion of the distribution filing.  

So in fact although we have implemented the revised allocation information, the risk is that we've taken on the risk, we're actually under-recovering if you look at those two.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I will move on to look at some of your specific areas of spending in the shared services. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just since you are moving on, Mr. DeVellis, just so I make sure I understand.  It is your evidence that two things have changed, the allocation as between distribution and transmission but also the total amount of costs has changed for 2010?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Correct. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  So net net, you're saying, you're not coming out ahead, if I may be colloquial about it?  

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  That's correct.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.  Sorry, Mr. DeVellis.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  So if you could turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 2.  

MR. VILLETT:  I'm there.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And this is a breakdown of your common corporate functions and services.  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  I am just going to look at a couple of numbers just so that we don't have to return to this table later.  First is your human resources costs are increasing by about $5 million between 2008 and 2011?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And your corporate communications cost, which I know you have already been asked about, but I just want to return to it briefly, they're about doubling from 6.1 million to 12.4 million.  Do you see that?  

MR. VILLETT:  I see that.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I just wanted to look at those now so we don't have to keep flipping back to that table.  

So I will start with the human resources costs and we asked you about that in an interrogatory:  Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 35.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And if you go to the answer to part (c) which is on the next page, at the top.  

You say at the beginning - sorry, the middle of that paragraph and we asked about the $5 million increase and you say: 
"The increase in costs from 2008 to 2011 result from employee and leadership development programs and expansion of recruiting activities to address anticipated growth in Hydro One work programs."

Can I ask you to flesh that out a little bit for us.  What do you mean by employee and leadership development programs?


MR. MCDONELL:  One of the functions that our human resource department provides to management is non-technical leadership programs.  

Since we have been growing in all parts of our organization, including MCP, there is a greater need for more leadership development at Hydro One.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  And the question we were getting at is to try and I guess have a little more detail as how you arrive at a $5 million increase.  How do you -- I guess how you add up the $5 million in increased employee leadership and recruiting activity.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I probably can't give you a breakdown to account for the full $5 million but there are other costs that have been incurred over this period as well.  

As a result of our overall employee base having to increase, we have needed to increase the support in the human resource group, as well, due to increasing work programs.  

We have also had to hire two employees as a result of some succession planning, because like maybe we're a little bit more of a microcosm, but like the rest of the organization, we have some senior staff, as well.  So we have to make sure that we plan and be able to replace those staff when they do retire.  

We have also had to hire, as a result of some Bill 198 requirements, to build in some internal controls within the human resource function, meaning that we have responsibility to make sure -- our pay is now outsourced, so we have to make sure, from an internal control point of view, that we have a person dedicated to ensure that the payroll is properly calculated.

As well as maybe I can comment about the expansion recruiting activities.  I think you have come to realize that we're hiring lots of people over the next number of years, and so we have engaged a third party recruitment organization to assist us with our recruiting.  It is also a very cost-effective way for us to recruit staff, especially in the areas for where we're having some difficulty finding skilled employees in some of those areas that we talked about, where there are skill shortages.  So they have been helpful in helping us with that, as well.

So, in summary, the increase is as a result of work program, hiring new staff, and there have been some programs that we have put together in the human resources, so one-time programs to help train our managers.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you have numbers attached to all of those things?  In other words, do you build this out by saying, We're going to increase recruitment by X percent and that's going to cost us this much, and all of the other items?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think I do have a breakdown, but I don't have that in any sort of useable form for you at the moment.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you be able to do it by way of undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.7.  And could you repeat that, please, Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  To provide a breakdown of the increased costs in human resources function between 2008 and 2011.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.7:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE INCREASED COSTS IN HUMAN RESOURCES FUNCTION BETWEEN 2008 AND 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. DeVELLIS:  The next area is corporate communication.  I understand that you were speaking about this to Mr. Warren.

Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 41?  Sorry.

MR. VILLETT:  I'm there.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't know if the number is in here, but you were discussing the increased consultation, the First Nations consultations, and I believe you mentioned the costs in 2010 is 3.4 million and the costs in 2011 is 3.5 million.  

Do you recall that?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's up from about 0.4 million in 2008.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And my -- my question is:  How do you get to an increase of about $3 million in consultation costs?

MR. VILLETT:  Okay.  Hydro One has increased costs in our First Nation/Metis area to sustain long-term relationship building and negotiations with our First Nations, as a result of the growth in Hydro One's work program.

As our work program has grown, there is many more projects that may be entering into traditional territories of First Nations and Metis communities.  So we have needed to increase the resources in this area so that we can provide appropriate resources to conduct those negotiations and consult with the First Nations and Metis communities.

MR. DeVELLIS:  But specifically in arriving at a $3 million increase, are there certain assumptions involved, in terms of how many more consultations, how much they will cost?  Well, first of all, what is involved in a consultation?

MR. VILLETT:  When a project is going to potentially enter into a First Nation or Metis community, we would send staff there to meet with them.  In certain cases, we would provide resources for the community to engage in -- engage outside experts so that they are able to appropriately engage in the consultation process with respect to some of the projects that Hydro One is proposing.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is this $3 million -- does it have to do with one or two major projects, or is this a series of projects that you are anticipating?

MR. VILLETT:  It is a series of projects that we're anticipating, and we don't -- we anticipate this is a long-term investment, not just for a few projects, and then it is going to go away.

We believe that sustaining relationships with First Nations and Metis communities is important to Hydro One's long-term goals.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So back to my earlier question, is there a way that you arrive at $3 million?  Do you have an assumption of -- regarding the number of consultations, the costs for each, et cetera?

MR. VILLETT:  The way that it was arrived -- the $3 million was arrived at, through was through budgeting, our annual planning process.  So the plan was submitted by our First Nations and Metis staff.  But they also engaged in an external -- engaged an external consultant, who is an expert in the First Nations and Metis area, to provide them with recommendations of how to appropriately set up the department in order to engage in negotiations and consultations required as a result of our growing work program.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I don't know if I heard an answer to my question.

Is there a specific -- are there specific assumptions behind the number, i.e., number of consultations, location, expense?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, okay, is there?  Is that available?

MR. MALOWZEWSKI:  Just two seconds, please.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. VILLETT:  In developing the plan for the First Nations and Metis department, they would have looked at the work program, the types of projects that are coming up, the number of projects, what territories they potentially would impact on.

Whether there's a specific number of consultations they looked at, I don't have that information.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So what I am hearing is that that is sort of a derived number.  It is an assumption based on the work program?

MR. VILLETT:  It's an assumption based on the work program.  And, as I said, Hydro One did engage an external consultant, who is an expert in this area, to provide advice on how to set up this department so we could engage with First Nations and Metis communities, as we expand our work program and potentially have more and more projects that cross into their territory.

So we did get external advice, as well, before we came up with these figures.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I am going to move on to another area and that is your overtime costs.  Mr. Faye asked you about this last day.  Actually, if you could turn to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 72.

And your overtime costs, as stated in the interrogatory, are from 67.8 million in 2006 to 87.6 million in 2010.

So that's a 30 percent increase; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  Over a four-year period of time, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It is not stated in this interrogatory, but the 2009 number is 74.6 million.  Is that right?  From C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  

MR. MCDONELL:  2009?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  

MR. MCDONELL:  74.6 million?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  So about a 17 percent increase in 2010 over 2009.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry, the reference was 2007 to 2009?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  No.  2009 -- 2010 over 2009 is about a 17 percent increase.  

MR. MCDONELL:  17 percent, yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Part of the explanation you give here and I know you discussed this with Mr. Faye, is that the overtime costs are higher due to an increase in the work program.  

But as I read this and I read the transcript of your discussion with Mr. Faye, it seemed to me that overtime is generally due to unplanned events.  Is that fair?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I think I threw out a figure the other day of about 76 percent of overtime within a specific business unit, customer operations, is as a result of storm damage and trouble call.  That was within customer operations.  

There is overtime worked in other business units that would not be storm or trouble call related.  Mostly related to things like pre-planned outages, or overtime required to complete critical work.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you had overtime as a result of a planned, whether it was planned maintenance or planned outage or planned project, the overtime with respect to that would be -- is it fair to say the exception rather than the rule?  That is, you use the example in the transcript of, if you had an estimator who needed to finish so there were no bottlenecks so the other people could do their work, then you would have some overtime.  But it seems to me that would be the exception rather than the rule.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I probably would generally agree with that.  

I mean I look at overtime as three big buckets, the emergency overtime for storm restoration, trouble call, the pre-planned overtime for outages, and finally and I think this is what you're referring to, is that smaller amount which would be as a result of critical work that needs to be done.  

Or, or in situations where it makes sense to have a crew work overtime at the end of the day, rather than send them home the next day and bring them back the next day. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If that's the case, then I am having trouble understanding why you have a 30 percent increase in overtime or a 17 percent increase in overtime, over 2009, given that the bulk of overtime would be due to unplanned events.  And your overall work program is not increasing because of unplanned events.  It is increasing because of planned increases in your work program.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I am not sure how specific I can address that question.  

I mean, a chunk of that would be, you know, we're building our asset base.  We are building lines.  And as a result of that, there would be a number of outages as a result of that.  

So I would suggest that a chunk of that overtime is a result of us expanding our system.  

Just a moment, sorry.  

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCDONELL:  That's fine.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Lastly, could you turn to C1, tab 2 -- sorry, C2, tab 3, schedule 1.

MR. MCDONELL:  The reference again. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  C2, tab 3, schedule 1.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  You have -- this is an average wages for one of your PWU job classifications.  Right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Table one on that page. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  So the overtime figures seem to increase about 3 percent per year from 2006 onward.  Is that about right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  But from 2005 to 2006, there is a large increase of -- I thought I had it written down. 

MR. MCDONELL:  From 29 million to 34 million.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  That's right.  And so 35,000 -- from 29,000 to 34,000; right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, sorry.  You're right. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  We hope it is not millions.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I am used to dealing with millions. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  I want to apply then if that's ...So that's about an 18.5 percent increase in that year.  Now is that because of the strike in the 2006?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  The strike occurred in 2005.  

2006 was a fairly significant year, where we had a fair number of storms in Ontario that year.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  I see, okay.  So it seemed to me that 2006 was an anomaly.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, 2006 -- I could also tell you in 2009 we've had a number of storms, as well, in this particular year, and 2008, as well.   So ...

MR. DeVELLIS:  It just seemed to me that it was odd that each subsequent year after 2006 is building on, off of the amount from 2006 when that itself seemed to be a large jump over 2005.  

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, are these -- I know you said you had an integrated workforce, are these tables trued up for actuals or is this sort of a projection that you just sort of update every year but it is never trued up?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  2008 would be based on actuals.  That's the last year we have complete numbers.  So 2008 would be actual numbers.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that is a derivation from your total PWU salaries or costs divided by the number of people in the job classification?  

MR. MCDONELL:  For the base rate?  

MR. DeVELLIS:  For both.  Base.  Overtime. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, it would.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  

Sorry, did you have something -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  I was going to comment.  You happened to pick the one classification for -- it does look like a lot of overtime but that is the one classification that I was referring to earlier where there is a significant amount of storm damage and trouble calls.  These are the folks that go out and fix the system.  That's probably why you see a higher amount of overtime for this particular classification.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  My issue wasn't with respect to the totals.  It was only about the step up in 2006 over 2005 and it seemed that the other numbers followed from that, rather than being adjusted but I think you have answered my question.  

One final question and that has to do with the head office refurbishment, and we asked in one of our interrogatories if Hydro One had any option for renewal of the lease.  I believe it was a 10-year lease on the new -- well, on the head office.  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, we do have options for renewing the new lease.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it for an equivalent amount of time?  Or what is the renewal option?  

MR. VILLETT:  I believe there's two options for five-year renewals each, but I can maybe just confirm that over lunch.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you learn differently, you can just correct me.  That's fine.  

Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Before we break for lunch, can I urge everyone to give their estimates to Board Staff for the time they're going to take to cross-examine the remainder of the panels.  We are fairly tight for time for the rest of today and for tomorrow.  And I don't know about you, but I don't want to sit too late Friday night, but we will until we have completed.  So if you give some accurate numbers to Board Staff, I would appreciate it.  

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, may I just remind you Mr. Vickers is coming at one.  I have Mr. Todd here, who is prearranged, standing by to testify immediately following Mr. Vickers, and I am going to keep this panel here this afternoon in hopes that we can return to them this afternoon. 

MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  So we will break until 1 o'clock when we will hear from Mr. Vickers.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.  


--- Upon resuming at 1:02 p.m.


Procedural Matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Hello, Mr. Vickers.  We will get to you in just a moment.

Before we do that, we have your scheduling estimates and it is not a pretty picture.

As a matter of fact, it is an impossible picture unless people are willing to sit into the evening hours, and I mean evening today and tomorrow.  So this is just to alert you.  We will see if you actually can shorten the time frames today, and it may look better by the end of the day, but if it doesn't, it would appear that we will have to have a hearing day in January for panel 5.

So I am just alerting you to that at the moment.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just for today, I think if you look around the room, some people have left on the assumption that between this panel, the panel 6 panel, which is coming up after, and on the presumption that I will go next on panel 4, that that would be the end of today.  If that is not the case, then I can maybe send out an e-mail and tell people to come back, but...

MS. NOWINA:  In case we're going to sit later today?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Today, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  I honestly don't see any point to doing that, given the hours I am seeing here.

So unless someone is going to significantly shorten, unless you, Mr. Buonaguro, if you are going next, if you are going to shorten your estimate from an hour and a half to half an hour, and others can make the same kind of...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can tell you I actually got a transcript dump from this morning to go through my questions and try to shorten them for that very reason, and I am going to do it myself, my own audio-video, which should speed things up, as well.  I think I am under an hour, if that helps.

MS. NOWINA:  That probably does help.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Should I try to get somebody back here?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I have actually arranged -- Mr. Mondrow has indicated he is willing to return, if necessary.  So if it looks like we are going to get to him, I will give him a ring and he says he can return.

MS. NOWINA:  Good.  Looks like that is taken care of.

MR. ROGERS:  Just before we proceed, can I just advise the Board, and Mr. Sommerville in particular, that we have provided a revised Exhibit J6.8 which shows the dates handwritten.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I know there is a colour version in the evidence.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But I thought in the undertaking it would be nice to have.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have it now, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I do have that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Vickers, I understand that you would like to make a presentation to the Board.

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  I have -- I am going to be helping Mr. Vickers --

MS. NOWINA:  Good.

MR. DeROSE:  -- through his direct.  Just by way of background, Hopper Foundry is a member of CME, even though they are a separate intervenor in this and will be, we anticipate, putting in separate effort, it is from CME, since they are a member.  As we did last year, we have helped Hopper Foundry through the process and we thought, just for the benefit of the Board, we would help him through his testimony.

MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate there, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  In that regard, there are two preliminary matters.

The first is we have prepared -- there are five documents that Mr. Vickers may refer to.  We have provided them in a brief.  Board Staff has them.

They were sent to all of the parties yesterday, and with the Board's permission, if that could just be marked as an exhibit?

MS. NOWINA:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  K7.5.  These are the Hopper Foundry documents.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.5:  HOPPER FOUNDRY DOCUMENTS.

MR. DeROSE:  And, secondly, I believe Mr. Vickers should be affirmed before starting.
HOPPER FOUNDRY - PANEL 1


^John Vickers, Affirmed


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeRose.
Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Vickers, if you could start by just providing the Board with a brief description of background of the Hopper Foundry?

MR. VICKERS:  The Hopper Foundry is a small family-owned foundry in the Town of Forest, Ontario, which is a little bit this side of Sarnia.

We date back to a blacksmith's shop that was opened in 1861.  By 1880, the foundry had been established, and over the course of the next 100 years, it went by various names as various families would come in and come out of ownership.

We basically have typically about 10 men on the shop floor, an executive assistant/secretary that runs the office, and my son, who is the owner of record, also John, John H. Vickers, is the owner.

We buy in as raw material used brake rotors, brake drums.  Ninety-nine-and-a-half percent of our raw material is post-consumer scrap iron, if you will.

We melt it down in a modern induction furnace and we make new parts.  These would be for the municipal market, meaning manhole covers and frames, catch basins and frames.

Also, we do work for about eight or nine different pump companies across Ontario, Quebec and the United States.

And we make nickel iron alloy, which is a very hard alloy, very abrasive-resistant alloy, which finds its way as shoe liners into steel mills or skid shoes one might see on the bottoms of large municipal snowplows going down the highways.

The foundry ran with a traditional cupola, which could be considered a small blast furnace, until 1981.  In 1981, we installed the first electric induction - I will spell that, I-N-D-U-C-T-I-O-N - furnace, 450 kilowatts, and we ran it to do the melting process at that time.

We make our moulds, our sand moulds, in the daytime and we do all of our melting on the night shift.  Our melting is the largest consumer of power.  The furnace can draw to -- a larger furnace, I'm sorry, was put in in 1992 and it is 750 kilowatts, and it draws -- obviously it can draw up to 750 kilowatts.  

So the vast majority of our power is drawn on the night shift.  Typically, the day shift draws about one-tenth of the power that the night shift draws.  I think the latest figures from Mr. Rogers were approximately 8 percent of what the night shift draws.

Within three weeks of installing the first furnace in 1981, it became clear to the local PUC, which was the Forest PUC, that we could not run the furnace during the daytime.

And they made that position clear to the then owner of the Hopper Foundry, Mr. Chris Hess.  Mr. Hess is now deceased.

From that point forward, we basically ran doing our melt on the night shift.

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Vickers, if I could stop you there for one moment, since you mentioned 1981, in Exhibit K7.5, one of the documents that you have included, if I can turn to tab 1, if you perhaps could just explain to the Board tab 1, tab 2 and tab 3, which are included in the exhibit?

MR. VICKERS:  Mr. DeRose, I do not have them labelled.  I'm sorry, can I refer to them by date?

MR. DeROSE:  Sure.  That's fine.  Tab 1 is August 21, 1981.

MR. VICKERS:  August 21, 1981 is the first recorded letter referring to the new furnace that would be going in at the foundry.

And it is written by the local PUC to Hopper Foundry advising that restricted hours would have to be followed basically from 11 o'clock at night to 8:00 a.m. in the morning.

Interesting that in those days 8:00 a.m. was the cut-off point for restricted hours.  

MR. DeROSE:  If you could turn to tab 2, September 22nd, 1981?

MR. VICKERS:  Yes.  This is a letter from Ontario Hydro to the Forest PUC advising them that Ontario Hydro has approved a general service rate, effective September 1st, 1981 for customers over 400 kilowatts, and specifically a restricted hour rate for the Hopper Foundry.  

And basically I wanted to introduce this into evidence to make it quite clear that Ontario Hydro knew exactly what we were doing at the foundry, going back then.  And we have a very long history of running under a restricted rate with Ontario Hydro.  

And you will notice on page 2 of that letter that the general service demand over 400 kilowatts, the demand is charged at 7.60 a kilowatt per month and the general service for restricted hour is charged at 25 percent of that.  

So basically, from that point, Hopper was getting a special rate.  

And then, if you will, I would assume it's tab 3 is actually the rate sheet that was put out at that time.  

At the bottom of the page, it is dated December 15th, 1980 which was when it was put out.  The second paragraph down from the top you will see it says:  Effective January 1, 1981.  

And then go to the right-hand column halfway down, within the box, I have drawn an asterisk and an arrow pointing to Hopper Foundry, demand charge indicating it is 25 percent of the general service.  

And just above that you will see effective September 1st, 1981.  

So this is the first indication that a specific rate was put in place for Hopper Foundry, specifically billing us at 25 percent of the normal demand as long as we stayed within the restricted hours.  

And then one more page is simply the follow-up for the next year.  At the bottom of the page, it is dated December 24th, 1981 when it was issued, but if you go up to the second paragraph, "effective," you will see "effective January 1st, 1982" and, again, this refers -- if you follow the asterisk and the arrow, this refers to Hopper Foundry demand charge.  

I just wanted to establish that Hopper Foundry have been getting a very special dedicated -- here it is called restricted hour rate.  In my mind, I think of it is as a time-of-use rate, because it referred to the nighttime production.  

It's been getting this right back since the furnace was originally installed in 1981.  And obviously it was done with the full knowledge and approval of Ontario Hydro.  

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Vickers, if I can -- just to close out this Exhibit, on tab 4 there is a letter dated 1992, June 30th, could you explain -- from Mr. Robinson to a Mr. Weber.  If you could then explain that to the Board.  

MR. VICKERS:  Thank you.  As time went forward, it became clear to the owner of Hopper Foundry that he was unable to produce the necessary product within the restricted hours using the 450 kilowatt furnace that he had and being restricted from 11 p.m. to 7 a.m.   

In those -- so we are getting into the early '90s now.  And there was a program by Ontario Hydro called "load shifting."  The owner, at that time, Mr. Hess contacted Ontario Hydro and studies and analysis were done and the solution was deemed to be the installation of a larger furnace, 750 kilowatt furnace, which would allow Hopper Foundry to make all of its product during the restricted hours that were available to them on the special rate.  

Ontario Hydro helped in a wonderful way with a grant for approximately 58,000 of the total budget, and the remainder of the budget was supplied on a loan basis by the Ontario Development Corporation.  The furnace was brought from Ajax Magnathermic in the town of Ajax, just east of here, and what you have in these letters are, number 1, the ODC in the form of Mr. Langer, writing to Paul Weber, who was the, if you will, the CEO of Ajax Magnathermic advising him that moneys would be available for this project.  

And then secondly, you have -- I'm sorry, I got it out of order, but the gentleman you mentioned for Ontario Hydro writing, again, to Mr. Weber assuring him that the Ontario Hydro portion of the monies would be available.  And that gentleman was Dan Robinson who was stick-handling this project for Ontario Hydro.  

And it was basically done to get the load to make sure the load would stay on the night shift.  

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Vickers, if we could move up to more recent period of time. 

You testified last year --


MR. VICKERS:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And I think it would be helpful for the Board if you could briefly explain why you testified last year and more importantly, if you could bring the Board up to speed on what has happened since last year's decision to now.  

MR. VICKERS:  Very good.  Would you mind if I made one tiny little point first?  

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, go ahead. 

MR. VICKERS:  Also in the tab, I'm hoping is the communiqué from the Ontario Development Corporation. 

MS. NOWINA:  Yes. 

MR. VICKERS:  If you will, kind of bragging about the program and trying to make other people aware of it, it's a good program, and that they worked with Ontario Hydro to fulfil this program.  

I actually believe that there is a similar document prepared by Ontario Hydro for publication in Canadian Metal Working and Machinery magazine but I have been unable to track it down in time for today.  I have a draft.  

I have a release signed by Hopper Foundry allowing Ontario Hydro to use the document, but I can't -- electronic copies are not kept that far back to enable me to have it.  So I apologize for that.  

Early last year, we were informed by Mr. Mark Boucher of Ontario Hydro that application had been made -- I'm sorry, by Hydro One to the Ontario Energy Board to vanish our time-of-use rate.  

We had a very special time-of-use rate.  To qualify for it we had to use, on the day shift, less than half the power we would use on the night shift.  

As I mentioned earlier, that was not a problem for us because typically we use only one-tenth on the day shift as we use on the night shift.  

And once we had qualified for it, the way it was engaged was our demand was measured by the demand that we used during prime time, during peak hours in the daytime, and that was the basis of how we were billed for demand.  Our night time demand was what it was, but we were not billed for it.  The point being that the daytime demand was the crucial one.


Mr. Boucher informed us that this was being presented to the OEB to be dismissed in -- the general effort that was going forward at the time, to reduce, I believe, some 200-odd rates across the province down to approximately 12 rates.  

The options that were put forth at that time was, we should endeavour to come under the "ST" class and to do that we would, it was recommended that we connect with a higher voltage source that was some blocks away, and that to bring the power along a street, poles and wires, we would pay for -- we would have to buy a new transformer of a higher voltage and we would have to do whatever work was necessary on our property.  

And Mr. Boucher and I took a rough stab at this as around $300,000.  I assured him we just did not have that kind of money.  Period.  

If we were to stay within the rate structure that was remaining, it would have seen our demand go from about $200 a month up to about $6,000 a month.  That $6,000 increase, you know, is basically a 3,000 percent increase, a 30-fold increase, and it would have driven our aggregate bill from about $3,000 up to about $9,000 a month.

So an increase of $6,000 a month or $72,000 a year, we're a small company.  We only sell about $72,000 a month last year.  It would drive us out of business.  There is no doubt about that.

So we asked for and we received intervenor status from the OEB.  So I came here last year and testified before the Board, and we are very grateful that they gave us the opportunity to testify, just as I am very grateful today that the OEB has given us the opportunity to A, be an intervenor, and B, come and speak to you.

We were very gratified that, in their decision, the OEB directed Ontario Hydro to carry on with our rate structure, our time-of-use rate structure, through the rate year that we find ourselves in now, which ends -- was scheduled to end April 30th of 2010.

We were ably helped, I should say, in the submissions.  The Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario put in a supportive submission.  CME put in a supportive submission, and I am pleased to say even School Energy Coalition put in a supportive submission that supported our cause.

So I find myself here, again, today because these things are done in one-, two- or three-year increments, and we are now talking about the next go-around.

That's basically why I testified last year and I think that is why I am here right now.

MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps you could provide the Board, then, with what's happened since the decision.  Have you had discussions with Hydro One?  Can you explain what's gone on since that decision?

MR. VICKERS:  The really important thing is we were allowed to survive.  We've managed to stay in business another year, which means that we supported our employees, we supported our customers, we supported our suppliers and we supported the town.  We pay taxes, too.

A second part of the decision last year directed us to work with Ontario Hydro to try and find a way to live within the much reduced rate offerings, 12 or so rate structures that were still available.

I had several meetings with and phone conversations with Mark Boucher and Mike Roger of Hydro One.  And, I apologize, I realize I am using "Ontario Hydro" instead of Hydro One, but I am old, so...

I had, in the last year's hearings, heard, when one of the panel asked Mike Roger whether there were any customers within the ST class that drew their power at less than 13,000 volts, and I believe he commented that there were, in fact, some LDCs who drew their power at a lower voltage and yet were classified within the ST class.

I asked, in one of the discussions of Mark Boucher, whether this same type of opportunity might not exist for ourselves, to be so classed under the ST class in this subset, if you will, of people who draw power at a lower voltage.

In my mind, I have come up with a mental note of -- it's kind of a pigeonhole that exists there, or a specialty or a subset within the ST class.

Mark Boucher took the question to Mike Roger.  Mike kicked it around a bit within Hydro One, and as various meetings progressed, it seemed to flesh out that this might not be an impossibility.

And so ultimately on, I believe it was, August 5th, we met in Toronto at the Hydro One office and Mike Roger had prepared some spreadsheets for us that would look at what might happen to Hopper if we were to be so classified, recognizing all the time that it is up to the OEB to make such a ruling on such a classification, and recognizing all the time that my first goal in life is that you grandfather our existing rate structure, which I believe is a good rate structure.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Vickers, if I could stop you there for a moment.  You have mentioned spreadsheets.  We have included what I understand to be the spreadsheets that were provided at tab 5 of the exhibit.  I think it would be of assistance to the Board if you could perhaps explain to them your understanding of these spreadsheets.

MR. VICKERS:  Thank you.  I will do my best.

As I see it, there are -- I can really identify four options going forward, and there may be others, but these four are within my sight.

One, not looking at the spreadsheets, if the OEB grandfathers our existing time-of-use rate structure, we can survive.  We will struggle to absorb the energy increases that are part of the rate harmonization process that's in place, but we would avoid the significant changes in our demand charges.

Two, if the OEB allows Hydro One to abolish our time-of-use rate, we will see a rate increase of approximately $5,000 a month, which I know will put us out of business.

That is shown -- for my ease, I always refer to the bottom right corner number on these rate sheets.  And if you find the one where the bottom right number is 32.7 percent, I will give you my understanding of these rate sheets.

MR. DeROSE:  For the benefit of the Board, that is the third page in.

MR. VICKERS:  So basically on the very left, we're talking about general service in Forest approved 2009 rates.  That's indicating that we would expect to see a year-long bill of about $44,709 in the year 2009.

And if you slide to the right, you will see general service, Forest proposed 2010 of $113,000.

If you divide the $113,000 by 12 months, it is $9,421.00.  If you go back and divide the $44,000 by 12 months, it is $3,725.00.  So the difference there is about $5,696 a month.  

So this is no different than what we were looking at last year when we were facing a potential increase of $6,000 a month, except that some of the rate harmonization is already happening.  Our rates have already gone up according to that, and so the impact going forward is slightly less.

If you slide over to the right-hand side, you will see ST at the top.  You will see ST proposed 2010 rates.  So this would be discussing what would happen if we were allowed to slide into the ST class.

And down at the bottom, you will see the rate is $59,327, and if you divide that by 12, it is $4,943.00, which is a delta of $1,218 over the 3,725 that we expect to pay currently.  And that delta or increase amounts to a 32.7 percent increase, which is the figure shown on the right-hand side.

So, again, that talks about the fact that if nothing happens, we will get impacted by $5,696 a month.  If we slide into the ST class subset as I am calling it, we would see an increase of $1,218 a month.  And we're talking about the proposed -- about the year 2010.  

Now, there is one more I would like you to look at.  And that at the bottom right-hand corner ends with the figure 5.7 percent, in brackets.  

So what this one is, again, on the very left, kind of where we are now would be $44,709 at the bottom.  

And as you slide all the way over to the right, you will see ST class proposed, 2010 rates.  

And you will see it is $42,160, which is, ends up being a drop of $210 a month which is a drop of 5.7 percent on the year.  

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Mr. Vickers, if I could stop you just to clarify.  The first spreadsheet that you looked at, that same column was a future ST rate with non-time-of-use on a non-time-of-use basis.  

MR. VICKERS:  I apologize, Mr. DeRose, you are correct. 

MR. DeROSE:  This second spreadsheet you are looking at, if you can just explain it, it says, "Future ST on a time-of-use basis."   Could you just explain to the Board what yourself and Hydro One meant by that?  

MR. VICKERS:  Yes.  Where one finds that is the top right-hand corner of the page.  You will see on the first one, the 32.7 percent.  The top right-hand corner, third line down is a bracket, on a non-TOU basis ending up in 32.7.  

The second one, again, if you go up there, third line down, far right, bracket, "on a TOU basis."  

So in all of our conversations, I always attempted to make it clear to Mike Roger and Mark Boucher that our desire would be that Hopper Foundry be allowed to continue on a time-of-use basis.  Two reasons:  Basically we have a long history of being allowed a time-of-use incentive.  And secondly, our oral history coming down to us from the previous owner, now deceased, was that if we were to run during prime time, we would brown out the town.  

This theory was put to test by Mr. Mark Boucher who had the Hydro One forces do some metering at our site, and that was, this theory was confirmed in last year's hearing, in an e-mail from Mr. Mark Boucher to myself.  

Because of these two reasons:  A, our long-standing legacy of using the max of our power, the maximum of our power off shift, and very little of it on peak.  And secondly, the power just simply isn't available to us in the daytime, without having negative effects on the town, for those two reasons, I have always felt that there is nothing wrong with allowing us to continue with our time-of-use rate.  

It is not because I am the hardest working chap in Ontario.  It's not because -- certainly not because I am the smartest or best-looking.  It is because we aggressively use the maximum of our power off peak.  

I don't know how many other people there are in the province that only use 8 percent of their power on peak as compared to their off-peak uses.  

And I think it is -- I guess I continue to believe that is what society wants us to do.  I think there are reasons we're installing smart meters in people's houses is that we can encourage them to use power off peak.  We are there now.  We are doing it.  I suspect we are probably one of the best examples of people doing it in the province.  

And I, finally -- I'm sorry, I think that answers that specific question. 

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Vickers, I have no more questions for you.  Is there anything else you would like to say to the Board before you are turned over to anyone that wishes to cross-examine you?  

MR. VICKERS:  Thank you.  Most importantly, thank you for allowing me to speak.  We feel we are doing what we should be doing.  We feel that we do have a longstanding history of using power aggressively off-peak.  We feel that we are doing that because the power isn't there for us in the daytime.  And to some extent we are doing it to be good citizens.  It does cost us money to run at night.  We pay our workers a shift premium.  My son has to go in and do double duty for supervision at night.


All of our direct competitors run in the afternoon, do their melting in the afternoon.


We've been doing this since the original furnace was first installed in 1981, and we are prepared to keep on doing it.  I really doubt if anybody really wants us to do our melting in the daytime, and so my parting request is to urge the Board to please allow us to, one, carry on with our time-of-use rate.  That would be my first goal.  

Secondly, if you cannot see your way to doing that, then I would encourage you to allow us to slide into this "ST" subset as I am referring to it.  And even in there I would encourage you to allow us to have a time-of-use component.  

I really doubt if any intervenor would come forth and say that a 32 percent -- 32.7 percent increase is what they would expect to see or, specifically, I am reminded of the direct question:  Are the proposed rate impact mitigation plans appropriate and are the resulting customer bill impacts reasonable?  

I just don't believe anybody would say that an increase of 32.7 percent is reasonable.  

And so I ask you to grandfather our rate, our time-of-use structure in some form or another, either as it is now or to allow us to slide into the ST class.  

I believe the ST class has a certain fairness about it.  I believe if LDCs are given the opportunity to draw power that way, there is probably nothing wrong with letting industry draw power that way.  

The provisos are that we own our own transformer, which we do; that we draw over 500 kilowatts of demand on average, which we do; and we would pay a transformation charge because obviously there is a transformation loss going from the higher voltage to the 4,160 that we work at.  

I think that wraps up my thoughts. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vickers.  

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose. 

MR. DeROSE:  Just for the benefit of the Board, and panel 5 will be able to speak to this, but what Mr. Vickers has referred to as the time-of-use, or sorry, the ST subset, that is the subject of Hydro One's evidence.  

They have set it out in their evidence at Exhibit G1, tab 9 schedule 1.  And not speaking for Mr. Rogers or Hydro One, but their panel will be here and it is their evidence.  

So I just wanted to alert you that that is in the evidence.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Good.  Thank you.  And thank you, Mr. Vickers.  

Mr. Rogers I am sure you want to ask some questions.  Anyone else before Mr. Rogers have questions?


MR. ROGERS:  Actually I don't have any questions for Mr. Vickers.  I was here the last case and I think I can confirm generally what he has told you about the history is correct.  Mr. Mike Roger will be testifying.  The company feels constricted by the -- some of the -- the rate schedules and so on and Mr. Mike Roger can explain to you the company's position.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Millar?  No?  

Thank you very much, Mr. Vickers.  You are excused, and we have no further questions.  

MR. VICKERS:  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers you can prepare to bring your witness forward. 

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I have Mr. John Todd here, if he could assume the seat that Mr. Vickers is vacating.

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Your name is John D. Todd?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Todd, you have prepared a report --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps Mr. Todd would like to be sworn?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, of course.  I was going to qualify him, but first you should be sworn or affirmed, Mr. Todd.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.

MR. TODD:  Affirmed. 
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MS. NOWINA:  Now you can go ahead, Mr. Rogers.
Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Todd, you have prepared a report dated July 2009, which has been filed in these proceedings as Exhibit G1-2-5, attachment 1, I believe.

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have also provided a copy of your curriculum vitae, which has been filed as Exhibit A-21-1, attachment 1.

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  Do you have your CV there, sir?

MR. TODD:  I actually don't have it here.

MR. ROGERS:  Let me just -- it's a fairly lengthy document, but if I could just summarize it, I understand that you are the principal of Elenchus Research Associates Inc. or at least one of the partners in that firm?

MR. TODD:  Pronounced like a K, Elenchus.

MR. ROGERS:  Elenchus.  And that's a consulting firm dealing extensively in various energy-related issues, I believe?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your formal education is electrical engineering from the University of Toronto in 1972?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And you also hold an MBA degree from the University of Toronto?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  In your curriculum vitae, you have set out various appearances that you have made before regulatory tribunals?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Here in Canada and elsewhere, I think?

MR. TODD:  Yes, correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Am I right that you have testified many times on energy-related matters, particularly dealing with cost allocation and rate design matters for utilities?

MR. TODD:  Yes, many different matters, but including cost allocation and rate design.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you testified before this Board before, sir?

MR. TODD:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you been qualified as an expert witness on cost allocation and rate design before this Board before?

MR. TODD:  I believe so.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you given evidence about cost allocation and rate design, whether you were qualified formally or not?

MR. TODD:  I have to check my CV, but I am sure I have talked about it in front of this Board.

MR. ROGERS:  I think so, too.  I see from your CV -- and I don't want to spend a lot of time okay this, Madam Chair.  I don't know if anybody is challenging the qualifications, but it looks as though you have either testified before regulatory tribunals in most of our provinces, or at least --

MR. TODD:  I think it is eight provinces, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Eight provinces.  I don't want to take a lot of time with this.  Your CV sets out in detail your qualifications and experience?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  It is an accurate reflection of that experience?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  I think it is always a little out of date, but, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  Can I ask that the witness be qualified to give evidence on cost allocation and rate design?

MS. NOWINA:  Any objections?

MR. MILLAR:  No objections.

MS. NOWINA:  We will do so.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Todd, I don't want to spend too much time with you dealing with your report, but I wonder if you could just, relatively briefly, explain to us what you were asked to do and what are the main recommendations of your report?

MR. TODD:  What I was asked to do is essentially encapsulate it in the title on the cover page, which is "Principles For Defining and Allocating Costs to Density-Based Sub-Classes".  

So Hydro One asked me to do two things in the process of looking at the principles in this regard.  The first was to handle a stakeholder session where I was presenting my preliminary thoughts and getting input from stakeholders to assist in the preparation of the final evidence, and then the preparation of evidence to be filed in this case, which you have in front of you.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Was your mandate to examine several approaches to defining customer classes, and then allocating costs to those classes?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  It was to look at the alternatives for defining classes and the alternatives for allocating costs to those classes at a level of:  What would be the correct approach?

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I wonder if you could summarize for us what your main recommendations were, or are?

MR. TODD:  Well, in being asked that question, I started -- I always go back to the foundation.

To understand why -- you have to understand why you are doing something before how.  In essence, I was asked, How?  I said, Well, I am going to start with why, which is why it is -- I went back to principles to look at the approach.

So the initial issue was I think directed from the Board to look at the cost basis for urban and rural rates.  So we had to get the right starting point to look at how we allocate costs or a cost basis for you to say, Well, what are we actually trying to do here?  And that's the thrust of my evidence.

So I asked a couple of different questions, and these questions were thrown out at the stakeholder session and they're addressed in the paper, which the paper is my views, not the stakeholder views, although they're encapsulated in there as input.

So first question is:  Why do we have U and R rates at all -- urban and rural rates at all?

And as I went through, as you will see in my paper, if you start with sort of the Bonbright principles and look at it, frankly, I came up that the answer was, I'm not sure why we actually have these separate classes.  

If we look at the distinction based on density versus the distinction based on distance versus a distinction in classes that could be based on, Are you served by expensive facilities where you have to serve people across rock versus soil?

There is a lot of areas where there are cost differences for different customers within a class, such as residential or general service, where we don't draw a distinction.  Certainly with the urban-rural split, is a relatively common basis for creating sub-classes.

Ultimately, I think -- and there is no documentation to support my view exactly, but I think it emerges for two reasons.  One is, Have you a fairness?  One view of fairness is that customers that are in high density, i.e., urban areas, have lower inherent costs compared to rural customers, and, therefore, the rate should be different, reflect those differences in costs.

Interestingly, at the stakeholder session, a piece of pushback was, Well, shouldn't the differential reflect the difference in quality of service?  And, in general, people in rural areas have lower quality of service standards in terms of response times, in terms of outages, and so on.  So shouldn't we actually have lower rural rates than urban rates, because what you're getting is of less value?

Another view of fairness, not the one that is driving urban-rural rate differentials in Ontario or other jurisdictions that have it.

I think another key driver in Ontario is the simple reality that our province has many urban LDCs.  Those are LDCs with rates that reflect urban costs.   And as a matter of equity across customers who happen to be urban customers in the Hydro One distribution network versus urban customers served by LDCs, equity would be established by having Hydro One's urban customers at rates that are more consistent with those served by urban LDCs.  

That suggests that the only way you can accomplish that is by having urban-rural rate classes, and I suspect that may have been a consideration.  Certainly on an ongoing basis, that is probably a consideration for the Board.

So having reached the conclusion that I am not sure exactly why we have them, but I think those are the reasons and it is not really necessarily driven by generally accepted regulatory principles, the next question was:  If we have them, how do we define urban-rural classes?

I went quickly to saying, Well, we can adopt the perfect approach, which is where there's high density should be urban, and where there is low density should be rural.

And if you fly across the province, it is not hard to identify the urban areas and the rural areas by looking at it.

How in practice would we actually do that, however?  Take Google maps and draw lines on Google maps and find out the addresses of everything, you know, that is within a tightly developed area and call that urban?  That, what I have referred to as a granular approach probably, almost certainly is not practical.  Not cost-effective at least.  

Therefore, we're left with discussing alternative proxy methods.  One proxy method is what Hydro One uses right now.  

A much more common proxy method -- I guess I would append that by saying, I could not find anywhere, in North America, another jurisdiction of the company that uses definitions that are literally density-based similar to Hydro One's.  This is unique.  

The more common approach is to define urban and rural by using municipal boundaries.  And that's relatively common.  

But that is just a different proxy approach.  If 
you -- using Hydro One's methodology, we end up with some people that if you were driving down the road, you would say that's a farm, it is rural, but it falls within the urban definition because of the way the boundaries, the areas get drawn.  Similarly, you have the same kind of distinctions if you had municipal boundaries as the definition.  

I think the attraction of the municipal boundary approach is that it's consistent with the tax bill that the resident gets.  So it is a definition of a boundary that is something the customer is familiar with.  It is not seen to be a Hydro One definition.  

If somebody across the street from me is equally urban compared to me or equally rural compared to me, and we're just across the street from each other but we're across the boundary between the urban and rural definition, if that is a Hydro One definition, people say this is pretty weird why are they charging me more because I happen to be defined as rural.  I am just the same as the other guy across the road from me.  If I get at least the different tax bills, I may have a clearer understanding of the person in the urban area is different.  I get different tax bills.  They get different electric bills and so on.  

Of course that means change.  Any change causes problems for customers, causes problems for the call centre at Hydro One.  It is difficult.  

So bottom line there is:  If you're just talking a different proxy, maybe we stick with the proxy we've got, just because, well, any system is going to cause some sort of customer confusion, what we've got if we don't change it is probably going to cause the least confusion.  So there is an advantage there, simply because it is what we've got and what people are used to.  

However, I fully recognize that another proxy method, it is all judgment, another proxy method could be just as good.  Just as bad.  Just as good.  

So the third question is, okay, whatever definition we use for the different classes, how do we allocate the costs?  

Well, again, we've got an interesting situation.  There is nothing perfect.  

Do we use the status quo?  Or do you use another estimate?  Again, any method we use is going to be an estimate.  The method that is currently being used by Hydro One has some warts on it.  It is a method they developed as a proxy method they come up with a rough differential.  It is probably not too bad.  

I asked:  Okay, how do we do it perfectly?  How do we do a really good cost allocation?  Well, that's not hard to figure out.  We will go into the all of the records.  We're going to figure out exactly where every pole, every wire is.  Is it within the areas defined as urban?  Is it within the areas defined as rural?  

Unfortunately, the records aren't kept that way.  The records for OM&A costs, particularly, operating and maintenance costs, are not kept that way.  

So this would require either retrospectively or on a going-forward basis a complete overhaul of the accounting system to record costs on a geographic basis that lines up with the urban-rural split.  

MR. ROGERS:  Is this a practical alternative in your view?  

MR. TODD:  It would be an expensive alternative, a very expensive alternative potentially.  I have not put a cost on it, I can't do that.  

MR. ROGERS:  Right. 

MR. TODD:  But it is probably, from a cost perspective, I'd say impractical.  

We are not coming up with something which does anything more than shift the burden of cost recovery from one group of customers to another.  There will be winners or losers, we change things.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, I am not sure if Mr. Todd has yet answered your initial question. 

MR. ROGERS:  No.  

MS. NOWINA:  And we do need to get to cross-examination.  

MR. ROGERS:  I didn't want to interrupt you because I was enjoying learning about this topic, but can you just summarize for us your conclusions and recommendations to this Board.  As briefly as you can.  

MR. TODD:  Okay.  The quickest way to see the summary and recommendations, I think it is summarized on page 4 the top two paragraphs and bottom paragraph.  

I conclude that separate urban and rural classes, if they're to be maintained, either with the current definition or another, is acceptable.  It would make sense if we're going to change things, to go to a definition of using municipal boundaries.  That's basically -- that's the standard approach, to differentiate between urban and rural.  

And if you are going to do cost allocation on a more precise basis, there are four options that I have outlined in the evidence, and -- which are a trade-off between cost and precision.  And I lean towards the lowest cost alternative which would be an engineering analysis.  

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I think those are my questions.  

Thank you very much.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  I have Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Buonaguro and then Mr. Millar for cross-examination.  Is that -- that's the extent of it?  No one else?  

Mr. Shepherd, are you going to lead?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Buonaguro and I have agreed that he will lead.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, go ahead.  
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to try to be quick.  If I could refer you to Page 9 of your evidence, Mr. Todd.  

MR. TODD:  Yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  The last bullet on the page you state that: 
"It is reasonable to assume that based on the average cost of serving urban versus rural customers, they are unequals."  

Can I first qualify that in using the term urban and rural, you -- whether or not you are presupposing a split based on municipal boundaries or whether the terms "urban" and "rural" are meant to be more general and should be interpreted as referring to customers in more densely populated versus less populated areas. 

MR. TODD:  It would apply generally. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And at page 9 the first bullet you raise some question as to whether one should have customer classes in rates that reflect a difference in density.  But is it fair to say that if one was to do so, a primary reason would be because there was a demonstrated difference in the costs to serve customers in urban versus rural areas?  Again, using that general definition of urban versus rural?  

MR. TODD:  You would have different rates to reflect the differences in costs, yes, however you define them.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And the reason you do that is because there is a difference in costs?  

MR. TODD:  Because there's a difference in costs and because the Board or as a regulator decides that that difference is something which would be reflected in rates as opposed to other differences which are not reflected in rates.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Is it fair to say the cost differences between urban and rural will vary depending on the definition one uses for urban versus rural, and I think it is something you talked about in your opening? 

MR. TODD:  Yes, yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for each definition of urban versus rural, one could do a cost allocation and in each case there would likely be unique cost differences calculated depending on the definition?  

MR. TODD:  The cost drivers are probably the same but you come up with different numbers depending on the definition because you have them split in different places but I think the cost drivers would be the same. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  But the results -- 

MR. TODD:  The numbers would be different, yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

And going to pages -- I will refer you generally where I am talking about, pages 14 to 17 in your evidence.  You talk about the various ways of defining urban versus rural. 

MR. TODD:  Yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you agree that from a cost causality perspective, the objective in determining the split would be to group the customers into classes such that - well, first of all, any differences in the costs of serving the customers in each class, within each class are minimized?  So when you are defining a class you want that class to be as homogeneous as possible within the class?  

MR. TODD:  Not necessarily.  I mean, I think you start with your principle, I mean you're not guided by the end result.  

You start with what you are trying to accomplish.  I mean sometimes classes may be very disparate.  And sometimes they're very consistent.   

MR. BUONAGURO:  But if I can interject, you are trying to -- when you are defining a class from a cost causality perspective, as much as possible you want a single class.  You want the costs attributable to each customer within the single class to be as close as possible.  

I understand there will be differences.  There will always be someone at the high end of the range of the class where the costs are the highest and there will be people at the lowest end of the class where the costs to serve that customer are the lowest, even though they're being charged the same rate.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you are trying to minimize that differential within the class definition?

MR. TODD:  That is not the basis for the differentials of other classes.  So, for example, it may correlate with that.  So industrial customers are served differently than general service customers.  They're served at higher voltage, so they're in a different class.

Now, yes, there is a cost difference and there's similarities amongst them, but there may be significant differences.  You're not trying to create homogeneity in costs.  You are trying to create a homogeneity in the kind of customer, in terms of characteristics, which may be the way they are served.

The rate design review is looking at ways to get rid of some of the differences we have, such as between residential and general service, and getting them more common in terms of the actual way they're served and the costs fall out of it.  You don't start with your cost homogeneity, in my view.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that from a cost causality perspective, the objective in determining the split would be to group customers into classes such that the differences between the average cost of serving the various classes is maximized?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why not?

MR. TODD:  Again, you are not starting with a cost.  You are not driven by cost differentials.  You are not looking for homogeneity.  You are not looking for major differences.

You are looking for a principled reason why they are different classes.  We have defined -- historically, we said residential customers and general service commercial-type customers will be different classes.

Frankly, there would have been better ways to create homogeneous just classes, in terms of costs, if you sliced it differently, like looking at their load, their form of use, things like that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I can try to understand the differences between my questions and your answers -- 

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- you seem to be saying to me that you would group customers based on the ways in which they caused costs and the way --

MR. TODD:  One of the ways that -- one of the ways that we create customer classes is to say that costs are different because they are served differently.  So if a customer is served at higher voltage than other customers, that may be a reason to make them a separate class.

Now, because they're served at a higher voltage, they're not allocated costs related to lower voltage facilities, and therefore they have lower costs, but there is lots of other factors which affect their costs which are being ignored.  So we're starting with where are we trying to create distinctions, which comes -- is not a cost-driven thought process.

It's an infrastructure design process, or it is a customer use process, so, you know, customer type of process.  So the difference between residential and general service is the concept, which has some truth to it, that they have different load factors on average, and therefore they're different classes.

There's problems with that, which is why that sort of approach is subject to review.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to move generally to pages 20 to 23 of your evidence, where you describe various approaches that could be used to allocate costs.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I assume you are aware that the witness, Dr. Woo, put forward another approach for allocating costs?

MR. TODD:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that for any definition of urban and rural, the allocation of costs could vary depending on which approach is used?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it fair to say that depending on the allocation approach used, the decision as to how best to define urban versus rural could also vary?

MR. TODD:  Sorry, say that -- I think I missed that question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair.

Depending on the allocation approach that is used --

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- the decision as to how best to define urban and rural could also change.  So depending on which allocation approach you use, the best definition might change? 

MR. TODD:  I don't think amongst the four that I have put forward that would be true.  I can't see any reason why the method being chosen there would affect your definitions.  That seems to be backwards, as far as I am concerned.

Possibly, if you're using approach which has data -- you know, Hydro One's data is broken down in a certain way that you say, You know what?  If we were to define things in a way that is consistent with Hydro One's data, then we could do this in a more pragmatic -- you know, we could do it more successfully, but, frankly, I would not use that as a driver for defining classes.  I think that's -- you don't use your data to define your classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that sounds like it is based on what appears to be an apparent disagreement between us on whether you are trying to group people by the costs that they cause.  If that's not your goal, then the cost allocation -- it may follow from what you are telling me that the cost allocation approach may not determine what urban versus rural definition you use.  That's what I am hearing.

MR. TODD:  What we're talking about here is the difference between urban and rural.  If the starting point is what we're saying is we think there is high and low density and urban versus rural as a proxy for that, you can call that a cost difference.

And, you know, that is, in a sense, the basis for that distinction.

What I was referring to, as the general principle for creating rate classes, you don't normally start with costs -- I mean, cost homogeneity in itself, frankly, we would have a very different rate structure.

There is a correlation to it, but I am just saying that is not our objective.  Industrial customers have lower costs per kilowatt-hour than residential customers.  They're different classes.  That's true, but that falls out of the fact that they are served at different levels of the infrastructure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a little confused, because if you are putting people into classes based -- well, first of all, you seem to be telling me you are putting people into classes based on how they're served.  That sounds to me like the first principle that you are coming from; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  And if you -- if you think about rate design in principle, generally, you would actually -- the ideal way, with good metering technology and so on, would be to separate people based on how they're served, by different voltages, by different connection capacity, things like that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you are grouping customers into a class based on the fact that they're served similarly or the same, then the variation in the costs attributed to them would be based on their volume, or what factors would cause differences in the costs that they end up paying, if they're grouped in the class based on the fact they're all being served same way?  

I would assume it would have to be volumetric.

MR. TODD:  There is a basis for separation of classes.  There are billing determinants, which are a different concept.  So what an individual customer pays is dependent upon the billing determinant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But if they -- if two customers in the same class had the same billing determinant and used the same volume, they would be charged the same?

MR. TODD:  They would be charged the same if they're in the same class and the sale volume usage, and they would be charged on the basis of volume and pay the same rate by definition.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That is because they're -- and the reason they are in the same class is because they're being served in the same way?

MR. TODD:  They may or they may not be, in terms of the same volume.  They may be -- in the residential class, probably they are.  But, for example, if you had two customers using the identical amount of power in terms of amount of electricity, same load profile, same everything, and one of the concepts in rate design review would be to say, Well, if one has a connection at 100 amp and the other has a connection at 200 amp, there is different capacity requirements for the system, and, therefore, they should actually be charged different amounts.

So --

MR. BUONAGURO:  In which case you would have two different rate classes?

MR. TODD:  No.  You would be charged on the basis of your connection capacity within a rate class.  It is just a different way of charging.  It is a different billing determinant.  The definition of rate classes is a separate step from looking at your billing determinants.  

There is a whole cost allocation rate design process with several steps in it.  The definition of rate classes is a step that we did years ago.  The Board has partially revisited that recently, but that's a step in the process of doing -- in effect, defining rate classes, and that has to be done before, as a precursor to doing cost allocation, and cost allocation is done as a basis for doing rate design.  

We are going right back to defining classes.  That's -- the principal basis we are doing that is to look at what are distinct drivers of costs in the system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On page 27, you state that:
"If the Board decides that Hydro One Networks should maintain separate urban and rural classes then a decision would have to be made as to how to allocate costs."

Are you there?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Where on the page?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have the precise location.

MR. TODD:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's right under 7.3.

MR. TODD:  Yes, okay.  Yes, okay, I see it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  However, isn't one input that the Board would need in making such a decision the information on the extent to which costs actually vary by density?  So for example, if there is little variation, one may tend to conclude there is less needs for urban versus rural rates?

MR. TODD:  That's true.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree if these costs differences or if the cost differences are impacted by choice of allocation methodology, would it be fair to say that the first step in looking at the question of density and potentially density-based rates is to decide how we are going to reflect the density difference in the allocation of costs?

MR. TODD:  Well, unfortunately I think the practicality of what we're doing here is that we are not -- the different methods are proxies, therefore they are throwing darts.

Unfortunately we are not throwing darts at a dart board that has a centre that is known.  We are throwing darts at a blank wall.  We don't know what the true numbers are.

So we don't know which proxy method is giving us the most accurate set of numbers.

Therefore, I think we just, we decide how we want to do it and we will work out costs and that's the basis or the cost allocation, that's the basis for the cost differential and that's why, what I have essentially concluded as saying, the most important question before we invest heavily in a cost allocation exercise is:  What are we going to do with the result?

I could be wrong, but my perception is that there is a tolerance for the rate differential between urban and rural customers, just a simple, you know, practical tolerance at the political level and at the OEB level, and at the utility level for how much the difference can be between those rates.

And the real threshold question is:  Is the cost of differential higher or lower than -- is a cost differential higher other lower than the acceptable rate differential?

And if, as I think is most likely, a detailed and careful cost study would actually create a differential in costs which is greater than the current rate differential.  If the Board's prepared to increase that rate differential, then it may be worth doing the study.

The bottom line is that the current differential is all that will be tolerated, you're not going to get much helpful information from the study unless it shows that in fact the differential is already too high on a cost basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Todd, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition and we know each other well.

MR. TODD:  Good afternoon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good afternoon.

In cross-examination school, they teach you in an expert digs himself into a hole, you don't let him get out, but I think that we have to -- I am going to put aside my script for a second and ask you some questions about what you just talked about with Mr. Buonaguro because I think we have to make sure we're on the same page.

What you said is cost homogeneity is not a factor in deciding what the rate classes are; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Cost homogeneity is not your starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  That is a consequence of the way we define our customers, but that's not a goal.  And we would not judge different ways of defining classes based on the extent to which you achieve homogeneity in costs.  We have significant differentials within all of the existing rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  No, I understand that.  But I guess what I am having a hard time understanding is, if you look at the first page of your Executive Summary, under "relevant ratemaking principles" you say, "The central principle to be used --"

MR. TODD:  Sorry, where are you?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, first page of your executive summary.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the heading relevant ratemaking principles, you say: 
"The central principle to be used in assessing the appropriate approach to designing density-based rates and to allocating costs to the resulting density-based classes is that the approach used should achieve fairness, by grouping customers with similar causal cost factors and similar cost levels."

How is that not cost homogeneity?

MR. TODD:  Similar cost, causal cost factors are things like I referred to, where what are you served off of?  Right?

So what I'm referring to are the cost factors that's what I was talking about.  You define the differences in terms of customers that are cost drivers, but it doesn't necessarily mean the end result is that all of the costs are similar.

You can end up with similar cost drivers but you can have customers, you know, for example, you have customers who are identical in all respects, the same cost drivers but have wildly different costs because some of them are sitting on rocky terrain and others are sitting on sandy terrain.  The costs may be very different.  But it's the drivers of the costs that you consider relevant.  And what we're saying in defining rate classes is, we're saying that you know in Ontario and most other jurisdictions, we are not going to define rate classes based on rock versus sand.  We don't think that is appropriate.  We are not going to base classes based on underground versus overhead.  We don't think that is relevant.

We are not going to base rate classes based on how far away you are from a distribution transformer.  That is not considered relevant.

We have said, however, historically, that we are going to use a proxy of density as a basis for the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So before I just get to that, let me just ask you the phrase "and similar cost levels," then you don't mean that?  Because similar cost levels obviously is exactly the opposite of what you just said; right?

MR. TODD:  No.  It is consistent.  I mean these are factors and you don't take one or the other.  I mean this is, it is all part of the package.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then how is it the central principle?

MR. TODD:  There is two parts to it.  All I was trying to emphasize in the previous bit of cross-examination was that we don't -- we are not seeking homogeneity of costs.  Period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is that you use things like load factor, things like connection voltage, things like how many amps your home box are, as determinants, whether they're rate class determinants or billing determinants -- and the reason why you use them is that they have different cost consequences; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  The cost allocation exercise is a cost- based exercise.  And just taking your example, if a cost driver is a billing determinant, you are not going to use that to define different rate classes.

Because by using it as a billing determinant, it means people within a rate class are paying different monthly bills that reflect those differences in that cost driver.

So if you are being billed on the basis of kilowatt-hours, you are not going to divide your customer classes up on the basis of billable hours because rate or bill differences are going to be accomplished without separating rate classes.   That's the package that I was trying to put together there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So right now we have some rate classes based on end use.  You disagree with that; right?

MR. TODD:  That's a policy decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --

MR. TODD:  What I am saying is if you go back to first principles based on end use, number one it is not clear to me why that is the policy basis of that.  And generally, in most jurisdictions, classes based on end use have been eliminated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have, in the rate design process, you were one of the consultants involved in that process and you have proposed that those end-use classes be eliminated, and that instead, this approach that you are talking about, based on things like connection voltage and stuff like that, be used to establish the rate classes and the billing determinants; correct?

MR. TODD:  Well, in that process I have not put anything forward.  There is staff papers, and in the meetings and so on I have thrown out options and alternatives in the sense of facilitating that process.  But those are all considerations and it has reached no conclusion with respect to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there are some LDCs in this province or in other provinces that have adopted your theory of how you set up classes and billing determinants?

MR. TODD:  I think it is fairly standard, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well the reason I ask is because what you have said, in terms of not having cost homogeneity seems like strange to probably most people in the room and that's why I am trying to understand.

The central principle in Bonbright is you try to group like customers together and you are saying that "like" is not like on the basis of cost; right?

MR. TODD:  No.  Like cost is a factor, but "like," there is many dimensions to "like."

What I was having concerns with was trying to start with the principle that you are trying to create homogeneity, because we do not have homogeneity within customer classes.  You know, there may be a unidimensional homogeneity.  

The homogeneity that we have right now is that all residential customers are residential.  That's not a cost basis.

Now, residential customers, on average, have costs which distinguish them from the other classes, but we have not defined classes so as to maximize homogeneity.  If we did, we would have a different slice.

There are -- you know, at the sort of low volume end, if you want, in the residential customers, there is a lot more homogeneity between them and low volume general service customers.  You would do it differently if you are trying to achieve homogeneity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  so then on the principle that you are espousing, if the only difference between urban and rural customers is that it costs more to serve one or the 
other --

MR. TODD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- then you would say that by itself is not a good reason to have separate classes?

MR. TODD:  And that's what I concluded, was that there are many other ways in which costs differ in an identifiable way for residential and for general service.

Therefore, I was finding it difficult to say -- to find a reason, in my mind, as to why we actually draw a difference between urban and rural and not some of these other differences.

And that's where I came back -- this is in my introductory comments and in the evidence.  I think the primary reason is the historical factors and the reality of our urban LDCs, and we need some comparability and some equity for urban customers inside the Hydro One service area and those in other service areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, how do you balance that out, or how does the Board balance that out?  If the rates for customers of Veridian, which has a number of similar small towns, are half what the rates are in the towns of Hydro One -- but you are saying that, as a matter of principle, different rates between those urban customers, Hydro One urban customers and Hydro One rural customers, are not justified.

Then how do you balance the two principles, the two drivers?

MR. TODD:  That's where pragmatism and Board discretion comes into play.

The literature does not deal with the situation such as Ontario, where they're saying customers served by different LDCs have a perception of how fairly they're being treated, how fair the rates are.

Frankly, in most jurisdictions, you have a single provider in the jurisdiction.  If you look across Canada, this, you know, 80 LDCs is very unusual.  I mean, there are others with two or three, but it creates a special problem which, from a fairness perspective, which is one of the Bonbright principles, has to be brought into play.  

There is some perceptions of fairness across LDCs within a jurisdiction, as well as with customers within a jurisdiction.

So it is a pragmatic way of achieving some level of fairness.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand where you are going conceptually, but I was asking a much more specific question.  This Board normally doesn't just guess at stuff.  Normally it tries to have relatively rigorous answers, particularly on ratemaking.

So I am asking the question:  How does this Board -- if it can't look at cost causality, and yet it has to do something to appease, if you like, the Hydro One urban customers, because they look at their Veridian neighbours, how does it do that in a rigorous way?  How do you propose that that be done?

MR. TODD:  I don't know that it can be done, because you have rate hearings for individual LDCs, not for multiple LDCs, and the only way you would achieve true equity in that sense, which is -- completely different problems get created -- would be to approach distribution like transmission and create a provincial rate structure, and have LDCs do revenue requirement and have it delink, if you want, the LDC revenues from LDCs costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not proposing that?

MR. TODD:  No, I am not proposing that.  I'm saying if you define your box, your concept, narrow enough, which is what you're doing, you can drive through the logic to what the conclusion must be.  That conclusion may not be something that is practical or realistic to implement.  

And that's one of the problems with starting with principles and just blindly following the principle to the logical conclusion.

We have -- we have a real world to deal with, and the Board is dealing with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am going to another area.  Is this an appropriate time for the afternoon break?

MS. NOWINA:  I think it is an appropriate time for the afternoon break.  Thanks, Mr. Shepherd.  We will do that.  We will break for 15 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:28 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:50 p.m. 
Procedural Matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Before we continue, Mr. Shepherd, for everyone, just regarding schedule.  I think we have to stop and be realistic.  Much as I would have liked us to drive through and have everything finished by tomorrow, at least everything other than the outstanding items that we have talked about, I just don't see how we will put that schedule together on any reasonable basis.  

And so I would -- I think at this point we might as well decide that this afternoon we will finish Mr. Todd, resume with panel 4 tomorrow, and hold panel 5, the load forecast one, to January, and we expect to set hearing dates of January 11th and January 12th.  I don't think we will need both dates but we will set them both in case we want to use them for something else for panel 5.  

Over to you, Mr. Shepherd.  
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am now returning to my plan questions.  

So Mr. Todd you filed an expert report on density-based rates.  Let me just ask.  You talked about, the title of your report refers to subclasses but in the body of your report you refer to classes.  Is there anything relevant in that distinction or is that just nomenclature?  

MR. TODD:  It is just nomenclature.  The subclasses would refer to, UR, R1, R2 as classes within the broader residential class.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

MR. TODD:  They're called classes officially.  Conceptually, they're subclasses of what would be a more conventional residential. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me understand the scope of what you did.  To do that, I am turning to page 1 of your report.  This it is not page 1 of the executive summary, but page 1 of the actual report. 

MR. TODD:  Okay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  There you quote from the decision of this Board in EB-2007-0681 that directed the preparation of evidence with respect to density-based rates; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what it said was that Hydro One was directed to prepare and file in this proceeding: 
"A more detailed analysis on the relationship between density and cost allocation." 

So does your report do that?  

MR. TODD:  That's not the purpose of my report, no. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the Board says that your report should consider, I am quoting: 
"...should consider whether the number of residential and general service customer classes in the new class structure is adequate."  

Does your report do that?  

MR. TODD:  This Direction, of course, is not to my report.  But this Direction is not responded to by my report.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  At all?  

MR. TODD:  What I was asked to do was to take the step back and do -- look at the principles for defining and allocating costs as a basis for this work.  It was a first step of a process of doing this work is my understanding of what I was asked to do.  I was asked to do the first step of the response to this direction from the Board.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well that's what I am trying to go through it.  If you take a look at your answer to School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 48, which is Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 48, and I don't think you need to turn it up but you can if you want.  It is only one sentence.  It says: 
"Hydro One confirms that the study is not intended to be in full compliance with the Board's direction and further steps would be required." 

MR. TODD:  That's my understanding.  I mean I am not Hydro One, I am the consultant, and my understanding is this is the first step.  The first step in the process of responding was to establish the principles. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

So all of the various things in this direction that says you should do this and this and this, you haven't done any of those things.  You stepped back before this direction and basically said:  If we're going to meet this direction, if we're going to do any of this stuff we first have to think about the principles. That's what I'm doing. 

MR. TODD:  That's what I was asked to do, yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  

Now, we talked a minute ago about -- a minute ago, it seems like just a minute ago -- well, to me -- on page 1 of your executive summary, I quoted you your comment on the central principle.  Which is -- the central principle you are talking about there about cost factors and similar cost levels we talked about, that's the root principle it is one of the root principles in Bonbright; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Looking at cost causality, how are costs caused?  It's not looking at the results, it is looking at how they're caused.  That is what this comment is and that is what I was trying to convey earlier which I seemed to not convey very effectively. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then we looked at your response to School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 52 which is Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 52.  In which we asked you to confirm that the principle of cost causality is the primary and most important principle to be used in establishing rate classes.  

And you said, no, it's not.  

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, I wonder if my friend could let Mr. Todd get the exhibit. 

MR. TODD:  I've got it, yes. 

MR. ROGERS:  He may not be familiar with the filing system.  

MR. TODD:  I am there. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said, no cost of service causality is not the primary principle; right?  

So where you talk about the -- 

MR. TODD:  Principles which are balanced-off.  There is not a hierarchy.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

You talked in your direct evidence and you alluded to, in your paper, that service levels provided to urban and rural customers may not be the same; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so even if there's cost differentials between serving the two sets of customers, it may not be fair to charge them based on the cost differentials, that is have different rates based on cost differentials, if you're not providing the same service to them; right?  

MR. TODD:  That would be one view of fairness.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now what you could do is, you can adjust for that; right?  You could adjust for what service quality you give and what costs relate to it; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Within the standard regulatory practice, there's a variance in revenue cost ratios.  That kind of consideration would be one of the factors which could be considered.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that type of adjustment relating to service quality levels, you can do that empirically?  You can derive it from data?  

MR. TODD:  You can derive what the differences are linking that to the appropriate rate differential.  I am not sure you can do that empirically nor can you relate it to costs.  

I mean you can measure differences in service levels, if that's what you like.  There are response time measures things like that.   

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you measure the cost differentials associated with those difference in service levels?  

MR. TODD:  In theory, I mean you could -- you could attempt an evaluation at what would it cost to bring a service level from an existing level to a different level.  That would be an estimate obviously, a hypothetical measure, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so one of the ways you have suggested to assess cost differentials is to use engineering analysis; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you did that, then you wouldn't be reflecting service level differences, unless you do so expressly; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  You could do engineering analysis which is, you know, direct engineers to do what you want.  Do your analysis for urban and rural.  That's what we're talking about.  

And here is our assumptions.  And the assumptions could be identical service levels setting some standards.  And that would be, then the engineers could say, okay, if we're starting with a clean slate, here's the way we would have to build the systems. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you could also do that engineering analysis with the assumption that rural customers get lower service levels; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Which may be the cost-effective trade off, because service quality has a cost.  I think the expectation is, the assumption is that in different locations, urban versus rural, for example, the cost premium if you want to achieve different service levels would be higher.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

So I wonder if you could turn to page 24 of your study.  

MR. TODD:  Yes, I'm there. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 24, you list the types of costs that may be higher for rural customers as opposed to urban customers, and then you list the costs that might be higher for urban customers versus rural customers; right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We asked you, in Interrogatory No. 65, Where did you get this information?  And your answer was you got it from talking to Hydro One's staff; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have any independent information on cost differentials between rural and urban rates.  You have only the opinions of Hydro One staff; is that right?

MR. TODD:  What's listed here is based on my own understanding of the industry, which was improved by talking to Hydro One staff and questioning what they were doing.

I mean, this is not a memo provided by them.  This is not reflective of a memo by them.  This is reflective of an interview process to confirm my understanding of differentials and try to identify areas where there might be differences that would appear legitimate.  So there is no audit process involved.

But these are based on questioning, shall we say, and my own understanding.  These are differences that I find credible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you --

MR. TODD:  They're not audited and proven.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You started with a list like this and you went to Hydro One and said, Am I missing anything, or did you start by talking to them and create a list from that?

MR. TODD:  I had a list of things that I believed were factors, and I explored that with the engineers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you dropped some things off because of that, those discussions?

MR. TODD:  I think I added a couple of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you drop anything off?

MR. TODD:  I don't recall.  No, I'm pretty sure I didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

Do you consider this to be an exhaustive list, or is it simply highlights?

MR. TODD:  This is probably the most significant differences.  I specifically -- in discussions I specifically said, Give me the ones that are significant.  We're not trying to get it down to the weeds.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, there is no -- believe me, I am not trying to be critical here, but there is no attempt to be rigorous here.  You didn't have a materiality threshold and say, above that it is on the list; below it, it is not.  You just said, What are the biggies?

MR. TODD:  As the title of that section 6 says, the "Significance of Density-Related Cost Factors", so it is trying to look at what is significant.  The question we're trying to get at is, in a sense:  Is there any -- in reality, is there a significant cost -- is there a reason to believe there is a significant cost that drives this? 

And what I was trying to get a handle on was:  If we were to conduct the studies as the next stage of the analysis, are we likely to find differentials that are higher or lower than the existing rate differentials, because I think that is a threshold question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I take it your conclusion is you are likely to find differences that are higher?

MR. TODD:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

And so you have things like storm damage; right?

MR. TODD:  Yes, the first bullet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the cost allocation methodology that is used by Hydro One right now for these classes, does it allocate storm damage separately to them?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about brushing?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wait a second.  I don't even know what brushing is.  What is brushing?

MR. TODD:  Brushing is clearing of trees and so on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay, vegetation management.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that allocated separately under the current cost allocation methodology?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about travel time?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about the usage of distribution stations?

MR. TODD:  Not explicitly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is indirectly -- they attempt to capture it indirectly through the allocation --

MR. TODD:  The intent is to capture these things indirectly.  Let's put it this way.  It is a completely different approach to coming up with the cost differential.  So clearly the current methodology does not consider any of these factors.  It is a different way of trying to come at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the last one of these, the number of poles per customer in kilometres of line, that is actually allocated in the system; right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  That that's probably viewed as the biggest single factor and the one in which there is some information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then on the other side, you have congestion costs.

MR. TODD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not really a big problem for Hydro One, right, because they don't have a lot of dense downtown areas?

MR. TODD:  For Hydro One it's not.  This was a generic discussion, yes, and it has done some work for municipalities.  I am very aware of those differences.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Undergrounding, of course, which -- Hydro One does have a little bit of undergrounding; right?  Not a lot.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I take it from looking at that list you will agree that the cost differentials, the overall cost differentials between urban -- serving urban and rural customers could be quite significant?

MR. TODD:  Yes, that's my perception.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you said here on that same page, you said Hydro One has very limited information on the differences in most of these cost categories.

You talked with them and they said, We think it is big, but we don't know.  We don't have data?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  I mean, the illustration is on the third bullet, travel time.  The best number they could come up with was two to three times.  That's not my number.  That's a credible number to me, but that's not a very precise number.  

The point is there is no -- the record keeping does not give them the ability to track these costs on an urban-rural basis.  It would require a complete overhaul to the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MR. TODD:  Accounting system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so from your discussions with them and from your looking at their information that they provided to you, you can't -- tell me whether this is true.  You can't estimate on a-bigger-than-a-bread-box basis how big this difference is, can you?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  It is bigger than a bread box.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. TODD:  It is bigger than a bread box.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to hold you to that.

So I want to turn to your conclusions in your report, which you have talked about, and they're found at page 3 and 4 of the executive summary, is the place that I found them, the easiest place I guess to access them.

MR. TODD:  That's the condensed version, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Condensed is better.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first conclusion you reached is that it is not clear to you -- and you didn't reach a conclusion one way or another.  You just said it is not clear to you why urban-rural rate differentials should be in existence at all; right?

MR. TODD:  Driving up from generally accepted regulatory principles, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the basis of that is, if the only basis for the difference is that the costs to serve these two batches of customers are different, then that's not a good basis, by itself, on which to have different rate classes; right?

MR. TODD:  It hinges on whether the basis for those cost differences are -- make the two classes, urban and rural, unequals or not.

If the fact that low density means higher cost, if that makes them unequal, then it is legitimate.  You have two classes.

But there's a lot of other differences between customers within -- I should say the residential class that we don't draw a distinction from, and I couldn't say why this particular one set out in the evidence -- I couldn't see why this particular one jumps out where we should make subclasses of the residential class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your view is that the customer groups are not unequal solely because of cost?

MR. TODD:  Well, that's where I guess the phrasing on the cover about sub-classes is important.

Making, creating sub-classes solely on the basis of a particular cost characteristic is -- is -- I couldn't get my head around that being a basis for separating -- creating those sub-classes driving from generally accepted regulatory principles.  I mean, it is common practice, but that's the only basis I could come up with is, you know, we do it, others do it.  Therefore, why not do it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this first question, should you have these classes at all, that wasn't one of the ones that the Board asked be answered in the 2007-0681 case; right?

MR. TODD:  The questions here are questions I asked when I was asked to look at the principles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was wondering about that, because I looked at the interrogatory responses, and it looked to me like in fact the question, should there be these rates at all, was actually posed by Mike Roger, not you.

I am looking now at attachment 2 of Exhibit H-10-47, which is your response to Schools interrogatory No. 47.

On page 11 of that, on April 15th, Mr. Roger says:
"Here is the first question:  Should customer density be a consideration in defining customer classes?"

So it sounds like that wasn't your question at all.  It was his.  Wasn't it?

MR. TODD:  I would say we both had the same question.  We are both trained in the same way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  I mean, it is the logical starting point for looking at the principles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And a week later, in that same interrogatory response a week later, we have the e-mail that you were sent from Mr. Roger, saying:  Here's my PowerPoint to give you an idea of what we want, right, in essence?

MR. TODD:  Sorry, which attachment is this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is attachment 1.

MR. TODD:  Yes.  That e-mail would have been sent after we had had -- after we had a discussion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Dr. Woo has given evidence, and without going through it in detail, much as I would like to, I take it you will agree that the thrust of his evidence was:  Go get the empirical data, see what the differences are, and then make a decision as to what rate classes you should have.

I take it you disagree with that?

MR. TODD:  No.  I think that essentially Dr. Woo and I are in total agreement.

When you say he's recommending go get the data, he is -- he is suggesting go get a particular set of data.  I believe his recommendation is using the Lowry study by, is that what you're referring to by "go get the data."

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  He said, have three or four different potential customer class splits.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Allocate the costs between the two based in part on the hard data you have and in part on benchmarking and see what you come up with, see what makes sense; isn't that right?

MR. TODD:  That's exactly what I am saying, is that's a way you could go.  The issue at hand and I think he recognized it but I won't speak for Dr. Woo, certainly my view is that all of the practical methodologies are throwing darts at a blank wall.  They're all proxies, they're all estimations.  We don't know what the true number is.  So we don't know which is the most accurate method.

Now you can, just like economists making forecasts of the future where the economy is going to go, you can have 10 different ways of doing an estimate.  You can take the average of them and you can hope that is right.

But you know the consensus forecast of economists are just as wrong as individuals when we look at how the economy actually performs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't really get this answer right is what you are saying?

MR. TODD:  Not at reasonable cost.  The only way you would -- you know I sort of tried to think through:  How do we get it right?  And that is the, you know, one of the four methods that I was, that I laid out is, go back and re-do the accounts in theory you can, therefore, get it right because you actually go down and you look at the data and sort it out.

That would be horrendously expensive.  Therefore what I suggested are three alternative proxy methods which go in decreasing cost admittedly saving money means having less precision.  But they're all ways to try to get at it directly.  The engineering analysis is the most, you know, forget about the data.  Use engineering analysis.  That would not reflect historic, you know, in embedded costs, that would be kind of using state-of-the-art technology which is one way you could say you want to allocate costs.

That would be a relatively, a non-data intensive exercise, but it would be a fairly accurate and fairly precise measure of the difference in allocating costs using current technology in a greenfield situation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you would have to, as Dr. Woo testified, you would have to have some sort of vintage variable to reflect the fact that urban or rural may have older stuff.

MR. TODD:  If -- well, as a matter of principle, is that something you actually want to be is a cost driver for the difference in rates between those two classes?  You know, but, yes, if you wanted that to be a factor you would have to take that into account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Dr. Woo testified that he thought it would take a matter of months to put together a study such as what he was talking about or what you are talking about, for that matter, in which you allocate what you have data on and you use benchmarking for what you don't have data on.

Does that sounds fair to you?  In a few months in a reasonable amount of work, you could do this?

MR. TODD:  In reading his evidence, I would say I think his estimate may be a bit on the low side.

But, again, I think in his cross-examination, he said he hasn't actually worked up a budget that he would sign to as a consulting contract.

But remember those methods are the proxy methods.  They're not getting the right number.

So, yes, it is a way of coming up with an estimate that's different than the current methodology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you agree that you don't have the right number now; right?

MR. TODD:  Hmm-hmm.  I think we agree that any of the proposals on the table -- except revamping the accounting information -- would also not be the right number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact the rate classes that the Board uses for all LDCs none of them are perfect, are they?

MR. TODD:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in each case where you're setting a rate class or doing cost allocation, it is true, isn't it, that what you are trying to do is get as close as you can, with reasonable effort.

MR. TODD:  As close as we can with reasonable effort.  And the question is:  Does reasonable effort involve a methodology that is better than the status quo, which is free?

I mean it's been done.  It's being done.  So that's all.  Is it worth the additional cost and I think there is two questions there how much will it cost versus how much you're actually going to get a better estimate.  The problem is we don't really know whether it is a better estimate or not particularly for the less cost expensive, the cheaper alternatives.  Secondly what I have thrown out as a threshold question is:  If you do get an answer, are you going to do something with it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about that several times, this notion that there's sort of a moral tolerance between urban and rural rate levels.

Something that's acceptable or politically acceptable, I don't know, whatever.

What sort of numbers are you talking about?  What sort of tolerance do you think makes sense?

MR. TODD:  Well, for starters, where I come from is that there is a rural and remote rate protection.  So clearly, through government action, they've -- the government has taken the position that there is -- for the high-cost customers, some sort of rate protection is required.

And I think there is an extension of that, you know I could be wrong, but I think historically we have not had a cost basis for the differential and I think that's partly because the cost basis for the differential seems to have been done on the basis of judgment in the past.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you are proposing is that because there is RRRP already, that this Board should then order an additional subsidy of rural customers by urban customers.  Is that what you are proposing?

MR. TODD:  No.  What I'm saying is that, in effect -- first of all, it depends what you mean by subsidy.  Subsidy in terms of a rate differential?  Or subsidy in terms of rate relative to costs?  Arguable right now, there is a subsidy coming from rural customer, urban customers, it all depends on where the relative prices in costs are which we don't know for sure.  The perception is rural customers are getting a subsidy from urban, i.e., the costs are even higher than the rate differential.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  What you're saying then is because the government has stated a policy in RRRP, that rural and remote customers should have same level of protection from high rates; right?

MR. TODD:  Well, all I'm saying is that is the status quo.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But because of that, this Board should then -- if it finds that the cost differential between urban and rural is higher than the current rate differential, should nonetheless not implement that in rates because it should leave an additional subsidy for rural customers; is that what you're telling them?

MR. TODD:  Well, frankly my evidence raises basically raises questions.  It doesn't make specific proposals.  Because those are pure policy questions and what I have tried to do is say:  Here are the policy issues that the Board, only the Board can decide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying there is no rigorous way of doing that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying there is no rigorous way of doing that?

MR. TODD:  There is no practical, rigorous way of doing that.  And certainly if we're talking about a rigorous way of deciding how much cross-subsidy there should be -- should or shouldn't be, there is no rigorous way to do that as an economist, certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course one way you could do is you could say subsidies are something that the government does, and they have already said what the subsidy is by setting the level of RRP; right?

MR. TODD:  If the Board wanted to take that view, they could.  But the reality is, every time a revenue-cost ratio deviates from 100 percent, there is a notional subsidy being tolerated driven, in part, by uncertainty, but also by a sense of fairness.  That is all part of the set of principles which determine guide rate making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're suggesting that the Board's revenue-to-cost ratios ranges are set so that some customers could be allowed to subsidize other customers?

MR. TODD:  There are two aspects to those differences.

One aspect of the difference is that there is uncertainty.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that part.

MR. TODD:  The other aspect is that there may be cross-subsidy.  Certainly one of view of those revenue-to-cost ratios is that although Ontario may be an exception, given some of our data quality issues which are contained in the Board's report, which I frequently cite, in general, the view is that the most accurate way to reflect costs would be to use the 100 percent revenue-cost ratios and go right there.  That is the best estimate we would have and, therefore, that is the best way to minimize cross-subsidy.

I don't know any jurisdiction that has adopted that philosophy.  There is always some range that's permitted, and the range is reflective of uncertainty.  It is also reflective of creating an ability to avoid rate shock.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You say in your report, and you said again in your direct evidence just now, in fact, that one of the reasons why you might want to stick with what you have right now is because any change creates winners and losers; right?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you just said a minute ago that, you know, What's wrong with the status quo?

Is there some particular value in the current status quo as opposed to the status quo two years ago before harmonization?

MR. TODD:  No.  I mean, every action is taken and changes are made for their reasons, and, yes, establishes a new status quo.

But each time a change is made, an important question is:   What is the benefit to the change, and is it some benefit other than creating some winners and having some losers?

The benefit is simplification, or the benefit is we think it is more cost reflective.  There has to be some rationale for making a change, in my view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There were winners and losers in 2008; right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Schools, who are paying a million dollars a year more; right?

MR. TODD:  I don't know about that, but I will accept your numbers subject to check, I believe is the terminology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are saying that those winners and losers, the Board has already decided those ones are okay, but now should consider that getting hard data on cost differentials and making a change that is more rigorous might be not a good idea, because there's winners and losers?

MR. TODD:  No, I'm not saying it's -- the winners and losers issue is a wash.

What I am saying is whenever we get to the cost allocation rate design phase of a hearing, it becomes inter-class warfare, in a sense.

Some classes it is -- classes gain, some classes lose and guess which side of the question each party is on.  I don't think the Board should be swayed by who is winning, who is losing.  The Board should be swayed by what is the more principled approach.  And part of the principled approach or an extension to the principled approach is we also have to consider that in shifting costs, everybody comes out even.

And in carrying out work that involves increases in costs, there is going to be some net losers, because you are increasing costs.

And so you've got to say -- if you are going to invest, if you want, spend money or invest in more precision, then you've got to say that additional precision, from a fairness perspective, is justified, is a sufficient to justify those costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said in your evidence that the current classes have a weak cost allocation; right?  That is your word, "weak"?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my impression is that aside from the status quo issue, you don't think that the current either class division or the current cost allocation has an analytical basis; is that correct?

MR. TODD:  It's beyond my talents.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand your answer, sorry.

MR. TODD:  I mean, I don't see the analytic basis for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And is there a value to -- in your view, is there a value to the ratepayers and to the system and to the applicant and to the process of having rates that are set in a more rigorous basis?

MR. TODD:  Taking everything step by step, more rigorous is preferred to less rigorous.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that has a value?

MR. TODD:  Sorry?  That has a value.

Different non-rigorous methods are what raise questions for me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but rigorous isn't binary, is it?  Isn't rigorous qualitative?

MR. TODD:  There is two aspects.  I mean, when we're looking at some of the alternatives put on the table, I would say some -- there's a clear rigour dollar trade-off.  So we looked at my spectrum before.  That was deliberately set up to say you can spend more money and get more precision, or not.

And I have not -- I have sort of given a personal opinion that I think spending less is preferred to spending more in this situation.

But it is really the Board's call to say they think more is worth it for more precision; more dollars is justified for more precision.  Dr. Woo has a different approach.

I would say that his approach is -- you know, so he has a fifth one on the table, but that's in a sense a variant on my regression analysis option.  It is a very different, very different mathematical econometric approach, completely different data, but he is just using different data to come at it.  But it is the same.  

So it is within that spectrum of the four and it is a fifth alternative that is now on the table, and I would not reject out of hand.  I just say it is different and you have to look at the pros and cons of the alternatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The whole process of cost allocation and rate class design is driven by proxies of some sort, one way or another; right?

MR. TODD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't actually count poles and you don't actually count people's hours in doing things.  You have proxies for those things when you do this exercise; right?

MR. TODD:  By and large.  In some cases, more precision is deemed to be appropriate and is achieved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you are talking about here is different proxies, one -- Dr. Woo suggested one for part of it.  You suggested some.

They're not different, conceptually, from the proxies that are used now, are they?

MR. TODD:  They are different -- yes, they're different, but they're all proxies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You have -- I wonder if you can turn to page 13 of your evidence?

There you list five reasons why -- you call them pragmatic reasons why retaining the existing density-based criteria would be -- might be worth considering.

You are not saying, Do it this way.  What you're saying is, If you are going to consider status quo, here is the five reasons you would do so.  Right?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.  When it comes to policy issues, I am just an analyst, so I can't draw conclusions, but I say, Here's the thought process that each party -- you know, the Board might want to go through in order to determine what they think is the appropriate conclusion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first one we have talked about already.  This is the winners and losers, and you basically said winners and losers by itself shouldn't drive you to choose one method over another.  This is a zero-sum game?

MR. TODD:  In isolation, winners and losers, no sort of merit to the winning and losing, it is not a consideration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then in the second one, you're talking about simplicity and transparency if you use a different density-based approach, but you suggested an alternative to that, right, which is a municipal boundary approach?

MR. TODD:  Yes, and I pointed out in some ways that if you are starting from scratch, I would actually suggest a municipal boundary approach if you are starting with nothing and wanted to create classes, because I think it would be more understandable.  To say it is more understandable than something that exists is a difficult call to make. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in that respect you and Dr. Woo are in violent agreement; right?  

MR. TODD:  Very violent.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then your third one is that the -- you say that the current definitions are directionally correct.  

And "directionally correct" means that Hydro One is charging more to the rural customers than the urban customers and you think that is probably right.  Is that what you mean?  

MR. TODD:  It is cost reflective, yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And may be as good as any alternative set of criteria.  What that means, I take it is you don't know.  

MR. TODD:  That's right.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

And so help me with why that is a reason to keep the status quo because you don't know whether something better is around the corner.  

MR. TODD:  I don't believe in change for the sake of change.  So using my analogy, if we're throwing darts at a wall and there is no dart board there, I mean why would we throw another dart just to get a different point when we don't know whether we have improved or made things worse.  

Unless there is some confidence that you are actually improving your analysis, it seems to me we've got a lot of better things to do in this industry.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then your fourth reason is avoidance of cost and disruption.  This is what you were talking about a minute ago, that there is actually a net cost to getting a better number.  

And so I take it what you are saying is you have to assess whether that cost is worth the benefit.  

MR. TODD:  Right.  It's a judgment call. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the last is this question of RRRP which we talked about and you're basically saying the Board could decide as a matter of policy that rural customers shouldn't pay more than 125 percent of urban customers, say. 

MR. TODD:  Well, that is reflective of an attitude, is what I was trying to say here.  

That there is a view that while we will go, in general, we will go fairly strictly using cost, the results of a cost allocation study for should I say residential customers versus GS customers versus industrial customers and, you know, subject to the ranges and so on, we may actually want to deviate from that when you're talking subclasses.  

Then that floats right back to the sense of, are they really unequals?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's say, let me deal with this as a hypothetical so I can try to get at the concept.  Let's just say the Board says 125 percent is the maximum we will allow rural customers to pay more than urban customers.  

In setting that 125 percent or whatever the number is that they set, do you think the Board would be influenced by knowing whether the actual cost differential is 200 percent or 150 percent or 800 percent or whatever?  Would that be a factor in setting what the reasonable maximum is?  

MR. TODD:  If they knew the true number that could be a Factor, or it may be something which is a stands-alone basis.  Again, it comes back to this concept of how unequal are they?  

It would not surprise me if the reasonable threshold was fairly firm, and in which case the important question is:  Are we -- is the real difference in costs above or below that threshold?  But I would concede that it may be that the Board may say they want to do a trade-off between the cost differential and some level of tolerance that the level of tolerance sort of relates to the cost differential.  

But to do that, you would think you would want a pretty good indication of what the true cost differentials are.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  That does create a subsidy between one group of customers and another one way or another; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Because in effect, what you're doing for the subclasses doing revenue to cost ratios that differ from 100 percent which is the concept of subsidy. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree that this Board should generally not establish subsidies without knowing how much they are?  

MR. TODD:  Well, within the precision of cost allocation studies I would agree with you.  But I mean - sorry, subject to the precision of cost allocation studies.  We don't know what the true subsidies are, that's why we have large ranges.  That is part of the uncertainty aspect so we tolerate, in part, we tolerate the cross-subsidies because we don't know that there really is one.  

So, again, they have to know within a rough parameter that is appropriate for decision making and ultimately this is the Board's call as to how much precision they want.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right. 

Let me deal with a slightly different question.  

If the Board is trying to decide between using municipal boundaries, for example, or density-based class demarcation, is it useful to the Board to know whether the cost consequences or the cost causality tracks more closely to one or to the other and how much the difference is, if there is one?  Is that generally useful information to have?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  But if I were going to approach that question, my inclination would be to say:  Let's ask the question of -- without doing a cost study on what I have called a granular basis, how many rural customers, you know, people who want to -- if you look at the map, fall into -- are treated as urban customers but in fact they're on fringe rural grounds versus municipalities.  I mean you could probably do that fairly cheaply to find out whether this is a significant difference between the true mix of urban and rural within the two definitions by doing some sampling.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and this is because it is your assumption that the density-based distinction is -- you referred to it as the perfect approach earlier. 

MR. TODD:  Yes.  In drawing differences between classes, I would drag the analogy to when, you know, very clearly in my mind I remember some natural gas class distinctions, were driven by plotting on a scattered diagram, all of the customers, and you are trying to find a break point where there is a significant difference between the groupings.  

So where I started in thinking about it was, okay, where do you see a significant break point, if you want, between what would be normally treated as urban and rural?  

Well, you look at Google earth or Google maps in the photo mode and you know think it jumps out.  There is areas where the housing is developed and built side by side.  It gets very complicated, however, because what's a grouping of housing that you accept?  I mean, there is a lot of farms where they cut out an area where 10 houses are built.  Okay, are they urban or are they rural?  You still end up with a lot of extreme definitional problems which become interactable very quickly when you try to drill drown to the perfect approach.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  

So the approach you're talking about -- I understand what you're saying -- but the approach you're talking about is trying to find out whether municipal boundaries will -- how closely they will track density; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that the underlying assumption is the density is actually the correct way to reflect costs.  Cost causality doesn't follow -- isn't going to follow municipal boundaries, it is going to follow density.  You are assuming that?  

MR. TODD:  Well, I am assuming that because they're starting with the concept of density-based rates. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay. 

MR. TODD:  Given that is what we're talking about, density is the appropriate way.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

If you found out that the number of customers at the boundary -- that is they're in the municipality but they're really rural or outside the municipality but they're actually in a higher density -- served on higher density basis -- is relatively small then you would say that the municipal boundary approach is a good one because the number of aberrations is small?  

MR. TODD:  Well that is one consideration.  I mean there's other complicating factors that must be taken into account.  

For example, that there are municipalities and a number of them within which there is an LDC serving that municipality.  Within the municipal boundaries, there may be some Hydro One customers.  So you do end up with some challenges in that definition of actually implementing it, and I haven't gone through all of the factors, but again it would have to be determined that it is in fact a practical way to do it given our rather unique LDC structure in Ontario.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have cost causality anomalies at the boundaries in any rate class; right?  

MR. TODD:  Yes.  All I'm saying is you're making a decision between two alternatives and there may be several factors.  I mean the world is a complicated place.  There is always several factors at play that you will be taking into account in making the call as to what is appropriate.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

One of the things that you said in one of your interrogatory responses, number 59, is that the current urban designation only applies to 11 of the acquired communities, out of 88 or something like that.  Eleven out of 88, I think it is.

MR. TODD:  Yes.  And I think that would have been a Hydro One response.  I wouldn't know that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't investigate that?

MR. TODD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I went to the list of schools from the last rate case to look at where they were, the ones that were considered not urban.

I see towns of 6,000, 5,500 people that are considered rural.  Is it fair to say that towns at that level are going to have significant differences in cost of service; that is, how much it costs to serve the residents in the town typically in Ontario relative to customers that are outside of the towns in the more rural areas?  Is that true?

MR. TODD:  Again, we're talking inside and outside the municipal boundaries at this point?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. TODD:  Based on this concept, that would be a driver for cost differentials.  Again, it is -- 6,000 is -- would create some economies.

There are other factors.  How far away are they from the other town where they're being served?  And if you actually are looking at that small a number of houses, you could get into some very significant differences due to, you know, are they built on rock and sand, those types of differences.  There are so many other cost drivers, it would be hard to generalize, but, on average, you would expect that towns of 1,000, 2000, 5,000 are going to be -- have somewhat different costs than towns of a million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in doing your study, you didn't look at that sort of factor, like, look down the list of towns and say, Which ones really should be in the lower cost versus higher cost area?

MR. TODD:  No.  This was purely a conceptual framework.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you agree that when you are doing this sort of analysis, you should be looking at such a list and making sure that your result passes the sanity check?

MR. TODD:  I think you start with a definition and objective, clear objective, and you -- if what you do is have somebody go through the list and apply judgment on a case-by-case basis, I think you've got a problem for a regulatory system.

You have to have a clear-cut definition that gets applied, and that clear-cut definition will be inequitable in some cases, inevitably.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  I am asking the other question, though, the sanity-check type question, which I am sure you have used many times, and that is the notion that you do your rigorous analysis, you get to your result, and then you look and see, the real-world implications of this result, do they make sense?  You should do that; right?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  Does it make sense relative to the alternatives?










MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

Dr. Woo said in his evidence that one good way to do this is to do your cost allocation based on municipal boundaries with a 1,000-customer, 2,000-customer, a 4,000-customer -- or population, rather, limit and see how your costs spread out, see where your break points are, what you were talking about earlier.

Is that a viable way of doing this?  Is that a sensible way of doing this?

MR. TODD:  Well, you have to have the cost information for those towns first.

So that gets you right back to our discussion of doing your detailed cost allocation study.  How do you come up with the costs for all of these different communities?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We talked about that.  You're going to have a proxy.

MR. TODD:  So we're talking about the proxy method.  Guess what?  You know, it may not be quite garbage in, garbage out, but, I mean, whatever your assumptions are in developing a proxy are going to drive the result, rather than the true costs, because you don't have the true costs.  

I mean, if your assumption is that there are significant economies of kind of scale going from 5,000 to 10,000, guess what?  Your proxy will show you significant differences in costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Just give me one sec.

I think I am done.

Oh, yes, just one more question.  One of the things you said in your evidence -- I will try to put my hands on it, but maybe you will remember it.  You said one of the reasons that you might consider maintaining the status quo is -- or delaying any change is because there may already be pressure on rates for other reasons, and that might be a reason not to implement something, even if you had the evidence to do so; is that right?

MR. TODD:  I don't remember that one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will find you the reference.  Just a second.

It says...

MR. TODD:  I did make reference, I believe, to there are a lot of other changes in the works, and, you know, we've got a rate design review which is partially done, was suspended due to other workload pressures.

Smart metering is coming in, which will develop better information on actual usage.  There is a lot of changes taking place.

So -- but that's a different concept.  That is -- unless -- is that what you were thinking of?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  No.  Somewhere in here you said that one of the reasons you might want to delay this is because there's things like the Green Energy Act.  They're going to push up rates and other things like that so you might --

MR. TODD:  I think in the context of creating winners and losers, shifting costs, one of the considerations is -- the Board is mitigation of significant rate impacts, and if you've got other factors, such as the ones you just cited, that are driving rate increases that may be large in any case, you're just going to aggravate that, if you have some shifts where the customers who are receiving relative rate increases are going to have even greater impacts.  So I may well have said that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not suggesting for a minute that the Board consider that differently in this sort of question as in any other question they have about rate changes?  You have to consider what the impacts are?

MR. TODD:  You have to consider the impacts, absolutely.  That's a tradition -- it's a position of the Board, economic basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Todd.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Nothing from me.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, then I guess we were going to finish early today.  It seems like it is feast or famine.

We will conclude for today and we will resume tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock with panel 4.  Thank you, Mr. Todd.

MR. TODD:  Pleasure.

MS. NOWINA:  You are excused.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:48 p.m.



















PAGE  

